

of leading the revolution in youth mental health

> Annual report 2022-2023

•ry gen



Orygen acknowledges the Traditional Owners of the lands we are on and pays respect to their Elders past and present. Orygen recognises and respects their cultural heritage, beliefs and relationships to Country, which continue to be important to the First Nations people living today.

© 2024 Orygen

This publication is copyright. Apart from use permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 and subsequent amendments, no part may be reproduced, stored or transmitted by any means without prior written permission of Orygen.

Suggested citation Annual report 2022-23: Celebrating 30 years of leading the revolution in youth mental health. Melbourne: Oryger; 2024.

Orygen ABN 85 098 918 686



contents

Chairman's message	4
Executive Director's message	6
First Nations	8
Recognising our people	10

21

YOUNG PEOPLE AT THE HEART OF EVERYTHING WE DO

National Youth Participation team	22
Youth participation across Orygen	23

13

LEADING THE REVOLUTION IN YOUTH MENTAL HEALTH

Orygen's 30 th anniversary	14
The evolution of Orygen	15
How we celebrated	17
Looking ahead	18

31

CLINICAL CARE

headspace continues to deliver for north-west communities	32
Trans and Gender Diverse Service	
embedded in five headspace centres	32
A focus on lived experience	33
Care and training streamlined	
in Orygen-VU partnership	33
Transformation	34
Specialist clinical care	34



37 RESEARCH AND TRANSLATION

Research highlights	40
Knowledge Translation	48

55

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Orygen becomes a Registered Training Organisation	56
Graduate education	57
2022-23 Toolkits and Guidelines	58

61

APVOCACY AND POLICY

The Orygen Institute	62
Government relations	64

67

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION

MOST marks milestone	68
Orygen Digital receives a Wellcome investment	69
Mello launches with impressive trial results	69
YOTES Berry Street launch	70

A revolution in the way we work	72
A big thank you	73
Our corporate and community partners	75
Our leaders	79
Financial statements	80
Publications	82

Chairman's message



It has been an absolute privilege for me, in my first year as Chairman, to be involved with the incredible people who are part of the team at Orygen. Not only because of the importance of Orygen's mission and work to support young people, but also because of Orygen's leading role, both nationally and around the world, as a change agent.

Orygen is one of the most successful medical research innovation change stories ever to come out of Australia. For more than 30 years, Orygen has worked side-by-side with young people to transform youth mental health and this work has led to the creation of a revolutionary new field of medicine.

Orygen is unique because in the pursuit of our vision, we bring together all of the elements that are needed to drive optimal mental health for young people. We bring together some of the world's best talent from many disciplines: research, advocacy, education and care. Every Orygen employee has played an important role in shaping not only the organisation, but also in delivering better youth mental health services that are delivering better outcomes for young people and their families. We have so much to be proud of, as Orygen continues to lead the way in all areas of youth mental health research, advocacy and care.

As we look to the future I would also like to reflect on the achievements of my predecessor Alan Beanland. First as an Orygen Board member for three years, then for a further five years as Chairman, in which Alan oversaw the expansion of Orygen's services and reach, including moving into our state-of the art Parkville building; innovative developments in research, exemplified by record high international grant awards and digital solutions; the strengthening of the Board, governance and clinical structures; the establishment of the Orygen Foundation; and reaching an agreement to transfer additional inpatient services to Orygen in the future. I thank Alan for his exemplary service to Orygen and the young people we work with.

What motivates me and my fellow Board members is the pride we have in being a part of a values and purpose-driven organisation, where everyone works in partnership to ensure young people experience optimum mental health and wellbeing. It's a very real and present mission for all Orygen people.

As we celebrate the 30-year anniversary of Orygen there are too many people to thank or call out individually, but I do want to pay tribute to Professor Pat McGorry, the Executive Director of Orygen. It is Pat's vision and determination which has led this organisation from its inception through 30 years of growth. Working with Pat, the team at Orygen has overseen a myriad of achievements and numerous changes to the system and service landscape, both in Australia and abroad.

Looking to the future, our strategic priorities are structured around five areas: clinical care, research and innovation, education and translation, advocacy and policy, and digital transformation. By focusing on these areas of importance, we enter the next phase of Orygen's evolution, and look ahead to the next 30 years of this great organisation. 56

We have so much to be proud of, as Orygen continues to lead the way in all areas of youth mental health research, advocacy and care.

Sir Edward Byrne AC Kt Chairman

Executive Director's message



The 2022-23 year saw many exciting developments at Orygen. There were landmark days of celebration and reflection, combined with new milestones of steady progress and reinvention which are setting in motion a brighter and more cohesive future for the entire organisation.

Orygen celebrated 30 years of leading the revolution in youth mental health, and I felt proud of the huge team effort that has built a new field of youth mental health here in Victoria and around the world, and a strong epicentre at Orygen which is inspiring and collaborating in this overdue reform. This is a shared achievement involving thousands of committed and creative people over so many years. However, we still have a long way to go, and we must continue to reimagine our mission and draw in more resources and new generations of talent and support.

Marking Orygen's 30-year anniversary provided a great morale boost as we navigate a new era of reform and the challenges of change. The assembly and spread of the youth mental health paradigm, the growth of a youth mental health workforce, and the creation of an evidence base, along with optimism and hope to the treatment of young people have only been possible through the dedication and commitment of the teams within our ecosystem at Orygen.

Some veterans have been with us since the earliest days of the Early Psychosis Prevention and Intervention Centre (EPPIC) and even before that at Royal Park Hospital. Others have worked alongside these original team members, some for over 20 years, to help us build and grow the organisation, as they themselves grew into Orygen leaders. With this wealth of vision, energy and experience – reinforced by new generations of clinicians, researchers and most importantly by young people and their families – we are all continuing to breathe life into and build the field of youth mental health. My heartfelt thanks and congratulations to everyone who has been a part of the history of Orygen and its impact in providing new cultures of care to young people.

I would like to also recognise the sustained contributions and support from the University of Melbourne, Melbourne Health and the Colonial Foundation. The long-term vision and commitment of the Colonial Foundation has been catalytic and helped sustain the exponential success of Orygen over the past 20 years. The youth mental health field in Australia and around the world is indebted to Colonial and its custodians over this extended period. We also thank our many state and federal government, philanthropic, and business funding partners who help make our vital work possible.

Though his retirement came just after the 2022-23 financial year, I would like to extend my thanks to the former Premier of Victoria, the Hon. Daniel Andrews MP, whose constant support was invaluable to Orygen over many years, and also to the former Victorian Health Minister Martin Foley MP, who has been a long-term source of support and advice. The new Premier of Victoria, the Hon. Jacinta Allan MP, has also personally supported us throughout the years and it was a huge honour and boost to morale that she joined us in person for our 30th anniversary celebration.

We are also grateful to many other key government partners across Australia, including Federal Health Minister, the Hon. Mark Butler MP. Assistant Minister the Hon. Emma McBride MP, and also former Federal Health Minister, the Hon. Greg Hunt MP. We have been very fortunate to always have been able to count on bipartisan support for our mission and all recent prime ministers have been directly engaged around youth mental health and Orygen's work. We thank you all for enabling us to continually grow our impact across research, workforce development and service reforms. We look forward to continuing to work with all our fellow "revolutionaries" to ensure all young people

have access to the care they need, when, where and how they need it, supporting them to recover and thrive as they grow into adulthood. Revolutions must be constant to succeed. Our track record of serial reinvention demonstrates this truism.

In closing, I would like to thank our former Chairman Alan Beanland for his eight years of service on our Board with five years as Chair. Alan's dedication and skill navigated a series of pivots and challenges including the Royal Commission into Victoria's Mental Health System and the pandemic. His tenure witnessed significant benefits for young people both here in Australia and beyond. I also thank our new Chairman, Professor Sir Edward Byrne AC Kt, who has in his first year of leadership has helped us define our 2027 strategic priorities which have created an ambitious plan for Orygen and the team to continue on its journey in revolutionising youth mental health care for young people. We are very fortunate indeed to have had the gift of Professor Byrne's wisdom and experience in this period of transition and integration.

I thank the entire Board, and particularly my extraordinarily talented and dedicated Executive Leadership Team for their resilience and skill during a challenging but important period of opportunity. In addition, I want to especially thank every single Orygen staff member for their dedication, grit and energy over the past 12 months. Finally, I thank the young people and families whose expertise, insights and ideas have been integral to shaping Orygen's work and broader mission, not just over the past year, but past three decades. I look forward to working alongside all of you in Orygen's next phase of growth and continued success.

Professor Patrick McGorry AO Executive Director

7



First Nations

The First Nations Team continued to support the organisation in the delivery of the strategic priorities of the Cultural Strengthening Plan, including activities that raised awareness, increased cultural safety, provided cultural liaison, and further developed internal and external partnerships.



Awareness and cultural strengthening

Orygen has supported cultural awareness training for all staff through:

- the implementation of mandatory online training for all staff in early 2022 and a longer online training module in early 2023, both through OurMob;
- tailored face-to-face training on Acknowledgements of Country across 2022-23, through Acknowledge This;
- specialised and tailored face-to-face cultural awareness training through girrawayganyi.com.au both for all Orygen staff (including the Executive Leadership team) and the Orygen Board; and,
- providing cultural guidance and support in the creation of new Identified positions across headspace sites (youth peer workers), the Orygen Specialist Program and the broader organisation.

Partnerships

The First Nations Team has developed key internal partnerships, with positive outcomes. These include, but are not limited to:

- Orygen Digital, and supporting the team to ask Identifying Questions, as part of the MOST platform rollout;
- Orygen Registered Training Organisation (RTO), including providing cultural guidance on appropriate training materials to Promote Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Cultural Safety, as part of the Certificate IV in Peer Work;
- recruitment of internal staff to partake in First Nations research projects; and,
- consulting with Research and Translation on appropriate cultural language use and connecting these teams with the appropriate networks.

The First Nations team was part of a VicHealth research project that included The University of Melbourne, South Australian Medical Health Research Institute, Rumbalara Aboriginal Football Netball Club and the Kaiela Institute. Orygen had two researchers involved in the project assisting with data analysis. This brought these researchers to Community and positively impacted on their knowledge of conducting culturally safe research. The project aimed to understand the impacts of racism on young people's mental health.

Orygen's First Nations Team joined with the Research and Translation team to support a partnership with St Kilda Football Club former player and community leader, Nathan Lovett-Murray to provide an evaluation of the Point & Be Proud school project. Point & Be Proud is a schools-based educational program targeted towards young people and focusses on building awareness of the ongoing mental health impacts that can derive from racism, discrimination and bullying.

Youth participation

As part of the recruitment of the new Orygen National Youth Advisory Council, the First Nations Team worked in collaboration with the Youth Participation Team to ensure the position descriptions were culturally appropriate. As a result of this collaboration, two First Nations candidates were appointed to the National Youth Advisory Council.

Recognising our people

We're proud of the Orygen people and teams who received awards and recognition for their professional achievements during 2022-23.

2021 MJA award for Excellence in Medical Research

In July, research conducted at Orygen received the 2021 Medical Journal of Australia (MJA) award for Excellence in Medical Research. The award honours the authors of the best original clinical research article published in MJA each calendar year.

The study, Suicide by young Australians, 2006–2015: a cross-sectional analysis of national coronial data, found that mental ill-health was a major contributor to Australian youth suicide.

The research revealed that most young Australians who died by suicide between 2006 and 2015 had either a diagnosed or a likely mental health disorder, yet more than two-thirds were not in contact with mental health services at the time of their deaths. The study was authored by Dr Nicole Hill, Dr Katrina Witt, Ms Gowri Rajaram, Professor Patrick McGorry and Professor Jo Robinson.



Professor Alvarez-Jimenez receives his award at the MHS Learning Network awards ceremony in October.

The 2022 Diana Award

Maddison O'Gradey-Lee, Orygen Global's youth mental health advocacy fellowship co-founder and advisor, was recognised in July for her work in youth mental health by receiving the 2022 Diana Award.

Established in memory of Diana, Princess of Wales, the prestigious Diana Award recognises a young person aged 9-25 years for their social action or humanitarian work. Recipients must have demonstrated an ability to inspire and mobilise new generations to serve their communities and create long-lasting change on a global scale.

Brain & Behavior Research Foundation 2022 Young Investigator

In 2022, Clinical Neuroscience Research Fellow Dr Ilvana Dzafic received a NARSAD Young Investigator Grant from the Brain & Behavior Research Foundation, the largest non-government, psychiatric brain and behaviour disorder research organisation in the USA.

Dr Dzafic's research project, measuring glutamate alterations in the hope of predicting who is at risk to develop a psychotic disorder, was selected by a panel of 177 world-renowned scientists with expertise in every area of brain research. The project will test whether using EEG, which measures brain waves that are known to be related to glutamate, can help predict the risk of developing a psychotic disorder.

2022 Tom Trauer Evaluation and Research Award

Orygen Digital's Professor Mario Alvarez-Jimenez was awarded the 2022 Tom Trauer Evaluation and Research Award by The MHS Learning Network. Professor Alvarez-Jimenez was recognised for his work, Harnessing Digital Technology to Transform Youth Mental Health Services.

RANZCP 2023 Ian Simpson Award

Orygen Chief of Clinical Practice Professor Andrew Chanen received The Royal Australian & New Zealand College of Psychiatrists Ian Simpson Award for 2023. The award acknowledges Professor Chanen's groundbreaking work in developing services for young people with borderline personality disorder and his research in the area.

Professor Chanen said it was a special honour to be recognised by his peers. "I am very grateful to have worked with an exceptional team of clinicians, researchers, and supporting staff, and to have learned so much from thousands of young people and families," he said. As the award recipient, Professor Chanen gave a keynote presentation at the RANZCP Annual Congress in May, 2023.

2023 King's Birthday Honours

In June, Orygen Head of Suicide Research, Professor Jo Robinson was appointed a Member of the Order of Australia (AM) as part of the King's Birthday honours. Professor Robinson received the honour in recognition of "significant service to community health through suicide prevention awareness and support".





Orygen's 30th anniversary

Over the past 30 years, Orygen has been working side-by-side with young people to revolutionise youth mental health.

With the help of countless dedicated supporters and staff, Orygen has grown to be a world leader in youth mental health care, research and training. None of this would have been possible without the support of the young people Orygen works with, or their supporters and communities. Our workforce has the largest concentration of youth mental health researchers, clinicians and educators in the world, all focussed on integrating cutting-edge global research, policy and education with evidence-based clinical care.

Over the past three decades Orygen has built relationships with more than 500 organisations in over 50 countries across six continents, with Orygen's global partnerships spanning research, workforce and clinical service development, education, training and advocacy.

Our 30th anniversary celebrations provided the opportunity to both reflect on the youth mental health revolution we have helped to create while also looking ahead to the future as we continue our innovative work to give young people hope for their own positive futures.



Friends, families and supporters from the past and present gathered at our Parkville home to celebrate Orygen's 30th anniversary of revolutionising youth mental health.

The evolution of Orygen

Thirty years ago, the landscape of youth mental health care was very different to what it is today.

It was a time when mental illness was often treated as if it was a terminal disease and early intervention was applied only to physical illnesses.

Orygen Executive Director Patrick McGorry said often people as young as 15 were placed into adult mental hospitals.

"They were brought into this 19th century asylum sort of environment, which was very frightening and traumatising," he said.

"We decided to try and turn this around, to challenge the idea that people couldn't get better. Hope is necessary in treating any kind of disorder. That wasn't recognised in psychiatry and certainly wasn't practised."

EPPIC

In 1992 the Early Psychosis Prevention and Intervention Centre was established, revolutionising early psychosis treatment by humanising inpatient care and pioneering an early intervention approach involving families and carers as key pillars of recovery.

In 2002, the centre was renamed Orygen, and in 2013 the EPPIC model was rolled out nationally. It has become the template on which many specialist early psychosis services worldwide are now designed.



Advancements in clinical care

Orygen led the creation of primary care platform headspace – the first point of contact for young people experiencing mental ill-health and a one-stop-shop for physical health, alcohol and other drugs, work and study support.

There are now more than 120 headspace centres in Australia. Orygen also runs five centres across Melbourne's northwest and west in Craigieburn, Glenroy, Melton, Sunshine and Werribee.

Providing services for young people with more complex needs, Orygen operates the specialist care program run by the Royal Melbourne Hospital, including:

- an inpatient unit;
- the Orygen at Home program;
- the Hospital Outreach Post-Emergency (HOPE) presentation program; and
- forensic youth mental health services.

Orygen also operates and runs Orygen Recovery, a 20-bed Youth Prevention and Recovery Care (YPARC) service which opened in July 2022.



Harnessing technology to support mental wellbeing

Orygen Digital is utilising technology's potential and enhancing clinical care for young people.

With a remit to bring the best of digital technology and clinical research to treatment options, our MOST service and virtual reality (VR) lab recognise that young people are digital natives at ease with technology, so they need access to mental health support on their terms.

Starting as a research project more than 12 years ago, MOST has evolved into an on-demand digital therapy service offering self-directed therapy content, safe moderated online community discussions, and access to peer workers, career counselling and one-on-one clinical support.

The latest evolution of MOST launched in Victoria in mid-2020. It now supports thousands of young people nationally and internationally.



Research with impact

Orygen's research has always focussed on redefining what's possible in global youth mental health research.

Today, Orygen is home to the world's largest concentration of youth mental health researchers, clinicians and educators, all focussed on integrating global research, policy and education with evidence-based clinical care.

Over the past 30 years, major areas of research impact have included:

- developing the early intervention approach for treating psychosis and identifying that it is possible to reduce the risk of developing psychosis among people who are showing signs of the disorder. This approach has revolutionised research and clinical practice and is now applied worldwide across a range of mental disorders;
- showing that vocational interventions can significantly improve work outcomes in young people with mental illnesses, particularly the Individual Placement and Support approach;
- developing the clinical staging model for diagnosing mental illness. The model helps clinicians improve their selection or sequencing of treatments and enables them to make more accurate statements regarding people's prognosis;
- developing early intervention for severe personality disorder, which has been implemented internationally. This demonstrates that early detection and treatment are embraced by young people, improving their relationships and daily functioning, and reducing self-harm and suicide attempts;
- showing that psychological therapies are the best initial treatment for young people with depression; and
- the suicide prevention research program, which has developed a youthfocused model of suicide prevention that builds upon existing partnerships and on pilot data obtained from work previously conducted by Orygen.

How we celebrated

Friends, families and supporters from the past and present gathered at our Parkville home to celebrate Orygen's 30th anniversary of revolutionising youth mental health.

Premier of Victoria, Hon. Jacinta Allan MP and Minister for Mental Health, Hon. Ingrid Stitt MP, were among over 400 guests including young people, families, current and former staff, volunteers and other valued partners.

The event, MC'd by 7News journalist Melina Sarris, included speeches from Orygen Youth Advisory Council member Mariah Amjad, Orygen Board Chair Professor Sir Edward Byrne, Premier Allan and Orygen Executive Director Professor Patrick McGorry.

A plaque was also unveiled by Premier Allan to commemorate Orygen's 30 years.

All of the speakers spoke of the positive impact Orygen has had both nationally and globally improving the lives of young people and the vital importance of continuing the revolution in youth mental health that Orygen has championed.

Premier Allan explained that over the past three decades, Orygen has lived up to its mantra of revolutionising youth mental health and ensuring that children and young people are not only supported, but supported to flourish. "Orygen has translated knowledge and skills into a better mental healthcare system for children and young people around the world," she said.

Orygen Youth Advisory Council member, Mariah said it would be remiss of her if she didn't mention Orygen's intentional effort to continuously centre young people at the heart of its work through collaboration and advocacy.

"In the relatively short time that I've been here, I've seen opportunities for young people to assist in designing research studies, organising conferences, and being given a platform to speak out on mental health issues in the media. It's clear that Orygen prioritises the involvement of young people in the places that concern them," she said.

The celebration was an opportunity to acknowledge Orygen's past achievements, but it also highlighted the ongoing challenges that persist in the field of youth mental health. Despite the significant progress made, youth mental health remains a pressing issue in Australia and around the world.

In partnership with young people, a robust and pioneering research program, and in collaboration with national and international partners, Orygen is determined to continue translating knowledge and innovation into tangible care and support for young people everywhere.



Professor Patrick McGorry, Mariah Amjad, Premier Jacinta Allan and Orygen Board Chair Professor Sir Ed Byrne with the commemorative plaque.

Looking ahead

Our strategic priorities 2022-2027

Over the last 30 years, our strategic plans have guided our endeavours and helped us measure our progress. The outcomes of these plans have included headspace, Orygen Digital, our purpose-built facility at Parkville, and the mandate for youth mental health reform realised through the Victorian Royal Commission.

Our new strategic plan considers our journey over the next five years. Its immediate context is the authorising environment of the Royal Commission, which empowers us to integrate everything we do under one governance roof. This is a unique opportunity to create a visible demonstration of optimal youth mental health care.

Our strategic priorities Our new plan is structured around five strategic priorities: Clinical care **Our strategic** enablers Each of the Research and innovation priorities outlined in our strategic plan is enabled by our commitment to: youth and family Education and translation lived experience new ways of working contemporary Advocacy and policy systems leadership Digital transformation

Our cultural features

Further support for our strategic plan is provided by our cultural features which articulate our ambitions to:

attract and empower a diverse and inclusive workforce

deliver on our Statement of Commitment to First Nations people

build the field of mental health through a collaborative leadership model

18

This strategic plan will help us secure our role as the wellspring and epicentre of a global collaborative movement to build the field of youth mental health. We will re-imagine and lead the way in which clinical care is provided, making sure young people are supported to achieve their full potential.

> >L 0L

'OL

"OL

ten in mii

ON IN M ON IN N ON IN I

N IN MIR N IN MI

TON

On

>N >r





One of Orygen's priorities is to meaningfully involve young people in its work - this includes decisionmaking at different levels of the organisation, designing programs and practice models, setting Orygen's research agenda and driving advocacy.

National Youth Participation team

The National Youth Participation Team's role is to develop, implement and foster youth participation practices across Orygen that benefit young people and, in turn, their families and communities. Capacity building of Orygen's workforce was a large part of the Youth Participation Team's output across the financial year.

The team's main focus for 2022-23 has been to strengthen the strategic role of the National Youth Advisory groups, build the new team's connections across the organisation and evolve existing structures to support young people to participate in decisionmaking across more parts of Orygen's work.

In addition, the National Youth Participation team also:

- supported a delegation of six young people who attended the International Association for Youth Mental Health (IAYMH) in Copenhagen, Denmark in September; and,
- supported these IAYMH attendees to plan and facilitate an Orygen event in December, showcasing IAYMH papers for staff who were unable to attend the Denmark conference.

A key achievement during this time has been working with Orygen's Executive and Board to appoint young people to Orygen's governance structures. The proposal to appoint young people to Orygen's Board and several Board subcommittees was endorsed in 2022-23, paving the way for the appointment of between six and 12 young people in 2023-24.

Central to the team's role within Orygen is linking young people to more opportunities across the organisation and assisting staff to incorporate youth participation in a broader range of activities. In the past year, the team:

- delivered nine New Staff Connect sessions on youth participation to new starters at Orygen;
- delivered nine Youth Participation Community of Practice sessions, which serve to support and build the capacity of approximately 14 staff who facilitate significant youth participation programs;
- had 32 meetings with teams across the organisation to advise staff on developing and implementing youth participation activities; and,
- circulated 74 opportunities to participate to the approximately
 60 young people connected to
 Orygen's youth participation programs.



Youth participation across Orygen

National Youth Advisory structures

For approximately five years, Orygen has had two national structures for young people from across Australia to participate in strategic decision-making. The National Youth Advisory Council (YAC) is a group of 10 young people from across Australia. The National YAC's role is to advise Orygen on the overall development of activities within the organisation. In particular, the YAC advises on the progress and implementation of the Engagement and Participation Strategy.

In addition, Orygen's Youth Research Council (YRC) is a group of eight young people from across Australia. The YRC's purpose is to provide strategic advice and support to research staff at Orygen as they commence their research projects. Both YAC and YRC members generally serve a two-year term. Both the YAC and YRC meet separately online each month and come together twice per year for a face-to-face weekend. In late 2022, the 2019 cohorts of the National YAC and YRC completed their terms. This cohort's most significant achievement was its contribution to redesigning the National YAC and YRC. The goal of the redesign was to improve and strengthen the role of young people in strategic and organisation-wide decision-making in light of the significant growth Orygen has seen over the past five years. Based on workshops and a report developed by YRC and YAC, the national structures were redesigned to:

- form a single, larger National Youth Advisory Council with a strategic and organisation-wide purpose;
- introduce a model involving the rollover of two council representatives from one year to the next, to increase continuity of work and establish a peer-mentoring role within the YRC and YAC cohorts;
- improve onboarding and induction of National Youth Advisory Council members;
- focus on establishing formal structures for connection with Orygen's leadership; and,
- in partnership with Orygen's First Nations Team, introduce two identified Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander positions on the YAC.

In the 2022-23 period, the National Youth Participation Team began working towards implementing this vision. In this period, the team:

- advertised for the 16 positions on the new National Youth Advisory Council;
- successfully appointed two rolling council representatives from the previous cohorts of YAC and YRC;
- received 224 applications from across Australia, including 13 applicants for the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander positions;
- appointed and onboarded 15 new YAC members from five states and territories;
- delivered induction and training for new YAC members; and,
- delivered a face-to-face weekend of training, priority setting and connection in April.

YAC MEMBERS	
	INTERESTS
	• Policy
	Youth advocacy
	 Lived experience advocacy
	Men's mental health
	 Psychosis advocacy
	Research
	 Sustainability & climate action
	First Nations' rights
	Rural & regional advocacy
	Governance
	 Improving services



The 2023 Youth Advisory Council.

Orygen Global

ASEAN-Australia Youth Mental Health Fellowship

The ASEAN – Australia Youth Mental Health Fellowships build the capacity, skills and voices of young people to create positive change in mental health awareness, policy and systems reform. A five-month online program, the Fellowships are open to young people aged 18–30 from Australia and ASEAN member states, who are passionate about mental health and who want to create change within their community and country. The program has been made possible through a partnership with the Australian Government, which has generously committed to the delivery of the ASEAN – Australia Youth Mental Health Fellowships.

Throughout the year, 15 young people participated in the inaugural ASEAN-Australia Youth Mental Health Fellowships' training modules, mentoring and global advocacy opportunities. A highly successful inaugural four-day forum was held in Jakarta, Indonesia, where Fellows collaborated in-person, gained invaluable experience by publicly presenting their advocacy project and were warmly welcomed by the Head of the Australian Mission to ASEAN and the ASEAN Secretariat.

In addition to furthering projects in their own countries, Fellows made contributions in various settings coordinated by Orygen Global across 2022-23. This includes a group of Fellows being selected to prepare and present a policy brief for the ASEAN Secretariat about youth priorities and through a partnership with a Canadian mental health organisation Frayme, hosting a knowledge exchange session between Fellows from both organisations.



The Orygen Global team with the ASEAN-Australia Fellows in Jakarta, Indonesia, February 2023.

Orygen Digital youth participation programs

Orygen Digital's youth participation programs aim to amplify young lived experience voices across digital service and research areas. They support the improvement of MOST, Orygen Digital's flagship product, and the development of key research projects such as virtual reality and Mello.

The Orygen Digital Youth Advisory Group (YAG), now in its second year, is a body that advises teams across the division on service improvement, promotion, new products, services, research and strategy. The current 11 Orygen Digital YAG members are aged between 16-25 years and are based in Victoria, New South Wales and Queensland. They all have lived or living experience of mental health challenges and a passion for improving access to mental health through digital innovation. The Orygen Digital YAG was recruited as part of a pilot program in 2023 for a one-year term. They have since elected to extend their term for another year.

The Orygen Digital Youth Participation Network (YPN) is an advisory network of approximately 70 young people who participate in short-term participation activities in Orygen Digital projects. This can include service improvement, research areas, communications and media, and user experience research.

From the YPN, Orygen Digital also recruits specific youth advisory groups for projects requiring intensive or specific lived experience involvement, particularly in support of research. In 2022-23, projectspecific advisory groups included the Mello Youth Advisory Group, REVIVE Youth Consultations Group, MOST Rebrand Design Group and MOST Body Image Content Consultations Group. Major achievements for these groups include the Mello app development and beta launch 2022-23 and Council Connect Weekend, a two-day event held in April.

The headspace Youth Advocacy Groups (YAG)

In the past year, Youth Advisory Groups (YAGs) have continued to play a pivotal role in connecting local young people with headspace's service planning and community initiatives. These dynamic groups collaborate closely with community awareness officers to ensure events, workshops, and campaigns resonate with, and are impactful for the community. Through their work, YAG members enhance the inclusivity of diverse communities, bust myths surrounding mental health, foster skill development among young people, establish secure environments for youth engagement, promote social networking and empower young voices in the decision-making processes at headspace. Their contributions are invaluable and have made a profound difference in our efforts to support the mental health and wellbeing of young people.

headspace Craigieburn

Craigieburn YAG members hosted a Trivia Night in late 2022 to recognise the great achievements of young people in the community. Awards were given recognising achievements at individual, community, and business levels. The event also emphasised the positive mental health impact that can come from celebrating success. The YAG also presented the Lifeskills program at two senior schools and one primary school, organised a Midsumma Pride March, held a Paint & Picnic event and Youth Fest celebrations.

headspace Sunshine

headspace Sunshine's YAG co-designed and delivered the Let's Talk forum, a day of conversations about the intergenerational, cultural and language barriers of connecting with parents/ carers about wellbeing. They also co-facilitated eight weeks of Mental Health Masterclasses at Footscray High School. Masterclass topics included communicating confidently, managing emotions, getting active, eating well and mindfulness. YAG members also visited St Alban's Secondary College's Year 12 camp at University College to deliver the Redefining Success presentation, sharing their ideas about success and reflections from their own vear 12 and university experiences.

headspace Melton

headspace Melton's YAG participated in a Melton Health Promotion Forum, where members presented on the purpose of YAG and the benefit of youth participation in health and community services. The YAG also partnered with the Melton Youth Services LGBTQIA+ Group, The Space, to celebrate Wear It Purple Day. Three high schools took part as well as independent members of the group with a total of approximately 25 young people in attendance. The YAG also designed and implemented headspace Day at the Library, in partnership with the Melton Library & Learning Hub. More than 50 young people from the community attended and engaged in this event.

headspace Werribee

In 2022-23, the Werribee YAG designed and facilitated a community festival around sexual health information and access titled Own It. Members also created a university expo for Year 12 students in the western suburbs designed to enhance their work and study prospects. They also supported community events and festivals, including mental health awareness initiatives at local schools and improved headspace Werribee's social media output.

headspace Glenroy

headspace Glenroy's YAG marked NAIDOC Week by raising community awareness with a lunch time stall at one of the local schools. This included a celebration of Indigenous culture and heritage through various activities and the use of a language map. At an event called Navigating Life Beyond Graduation, YAG members presented to an audience of Year 12s about life after school, providing valuable guidance to students and showcasing the impactful contributions of the YAG. YAG members and staff also undertook a series of focus groups examining the centre's initiatives, aimed at ensuring services appropriately align with the needs and expectations of the Glenroy community.



Youth Advisory Council members

Mariah Amjad Amelia Asciutto Katie Barton Elsie Beale Ezra Burnett Madeline Crothers Timothy Dotter Finlaey Hewlett Jeanti Profaca Kushagra Rathore Jessy Renouf Grace Vipen Mark Yin

Orygen Digital YAG

Oscar Bello Sophie Farinacci Katherine Kalaitzidis Lachlan Kearney Cassandra Lariche Elina Passant Grace Read Li Xuan Tan Kathan Winchester Toby Wong Gianna Ziero We'd like to acknowledge and thank the following dedicated young people who supported Orygen to improve its work and services, and improve the lives of young people, their families and communities.

headspace Craigieburn members

Jaye Barker Navdeep Birring Prtissha Dayal Charlie Eales Ky Ellahiyoun Lauren Falcone Courtney McSweeney Tobi Edward Ward-Boas

headspace Glenroy YAG

Kamryn Ali Liam Bachmann Zoe Borghouts Francesco De Maria Julia Ellul Eric De Francesco Ayesha Jayakody Sophie Ten Dam Laura Tsivoglou Natasha Saizi Olivia Zieba

headspace Melton YAG

Thomas Atkinson Phoenix Dean Sargun Kohar Ellie Kuchel William Moore Matt Richardson Robin Richardson Cheyenne Timms Amielia Wall

headspace Sunshine YAG

Paola Castelli Oliver Cole Noah Garnier Rachel Grimaud Fatima Ibrahim Milla Jacobi Christine Lu Thomas Oreilly Tanisha Pilla Elliot Price Neerja Singh El Vance Calvin Vu

headspace Werribee YAG

Ella Cross Sharla Eddleston Khushi Parikh Pooja Pressely and others

Platform members

Marcie Di Bartolomeo Mary Mansilla Sean Michelini Amelia Smith Caitlin Stefanovska Hejun Tang Wendi Zhao and others









Trans and Gender Diverse Service embedded in five headspace centres

After launching in 2022, the Trans and Gender Diverse (TGD) Service this year moved from development to delivery, being embedded in all five of Orygen's headspace centres. The TGD Service now offers services through general practitioners, clinicians and peer navigators working across the five headspace sites. These services are easily accessible and have no wait times for service. The TGD Service also engaged a psychiatrist in the past year.

Prior to the establishment of this service in Victoria, the only referral pathway for TGD young people aged 12-16 was via the Royal Children's Hospital. The Orygen TGD team works closely with RCH and has taken 100 per cent of RCH referrals.

Gender affirming mental health training by RCH was made available to all headspace clinicians in March and Gender 101 training was provided by the TGD team at headspace centres including 'Lunch and Learns' on social, legal and medical affirmation. A TGD cultural safety module and clinical practice points were launched on the Orygen intranet, which will eventually become part the induction process when onboarding new staff.

The TGD Service is part of a consortium that includes the Royal Children's Hospital Gender Service, Monash Health Gender Clinic, Transcend Australia and Transgender Victoria.

headspace continues to deliver for north-west communities

Across Orygen's five headspace centres -Craigieburn, Glenroy, Melton, Sunshine and Werribee - more than 23,000 occasions of service were provided to 4,557 young people in 2022-23. Each young person visited an average of five times and almost 30 per cent of young people received family inclusive services. About 1000 occasions of care were provided to First Nations young people, with an above average engagement rate per young person with the program and services. In addition, these five centres provided a high number of community projects and programs through schools and other pathways. headspace clinicians and staff continue to work closely with each centre's Youth Advisory Group to improve services and care, tailored to young people within the local community.



A focus on lived experience

As part of the emphasis on lived experience across both Orygen and our partner organisation the Orygen Specialist Program, a new Head of Lived Experience was appointed and joined Orygen in late 2023 and will work with the workforce across both Orygen and our partner organisation. The Head of Lived Experience will focus on supporting the growth of this important workforce within Orygen's clinical services and more broadly across the organisation. Orygen now employs 32 youth and family lived experience workers that are working in peer work roles, with other lived experience roles existing in other areas of Orygen such as Research, Knowledge Translation and Orygen Digital, and as part of our partner organisation.

Youth Peer Workers working in these roles draw upon their experiences of mental and emotional distress, and recovery, as well as their experiences of navigating and accessing services, to support others through these experiences through building mutual and reciprocal relationships. Similarly, Family Peer Workers act in a similar role with families, carers, and supporters by drawing upon their experiences of supporting young people with mental ill health. Using this first-hand knowledge, Youth and Family Peer Workers build relationships based on a collective understanding of shared experiences, selfdetermination, empowerment and hope, with the aim of achieving the best outcomes for young people and their families.

Care and training streamlined in Orygen-VU partnership

In 2023 a new partnership between Orygen and Victoria University laid the foundation for the state's first fully integrated service hub, with headspace Werribee and Orygen Specialist Program to relocate its services to VU's Werribee campus later in the year. The new facility will welcome young people and their families with the full range of services offered across Orygen, from primary care to specialist program services.

In addition, both Orygen Specialist Program and headspace Werribee has provided mental health education and training for VU staff and students, as well as employment pathways that are critical to growing the state's strained mental health care workforce.

Orygen has accepted 70 VU students placements across the disciplines of nursing, psychology, social work, youth work, dietetics and nutrition into Orygen's headspace centres and Orygen Specialist Program.



Transformation

Delivering on the recommendations of the Royal Commission

The upcoming Transformation will help create a more integrated mental health care system for young people aged 12–25 and make it easier to expand and enhance services to support them.

In 2022-23 our Transformation was enabled by a number of key achievements, including:

- development of a model for electronic medical record implementation;
- establishment of our Lived Experience Workforce working group; and
- consultation across Orygen Specialist Program about staff needs for treating young people aged 12–14.

The changes that we have been working towards will help us and our partners to deliver on the recommendations from the 2019 Royal Commission into Victoria's mental health system.

We appreciate the support of our colleagues at Royal Melbourne Hospital, Royal Children's Hospital and the Department of Health over this period as we continue to work together toward Transition.

Specialist clinical care

Orygen at Home

Delivered by our partner organisation, Orygen Specialist Program, Orygen at Home has a multidisciplinary team that provides collaborative care for young people and carers in their home environment. Orygen received \$300,000 in funding from the HCF Research Foundation in May 2022 to examine the efficiency of this model of home-based mental health care for young people. The team's work has been informed by Orygen research and developed with a strong emphasis on family-inclusive practices and understanding of the impact of home-based care.

In the past year Orygen at Home has operated with 10 beds, with the intention of expanding to the service's full capacity of 15 beds in 2024. In partnership with Orygen's research programs, the Orygen at Home team has continued to review and develop the content of admissions to ensure that alongside the biological interventions offered, the capacity for psychological and clientcentred psychosocial interventions is also included. Orygen at Home also collaborated with the psychosocial program to ensure opportunities for social engagement during the acute phase of recovery for young people in Orygen at Home care.


Eating disorders

With a strong focus on integrating research and treatment through collaboration, Orygen's newly established eating disorders research program focusses on improving prevention, early identification and intervention in the treatment of eating disorders. The eating disorders stream operated by our partner organisation the Orygen Specialist Program has continued to expand across 2022-23 and now provides treatment to young people with severe and complex eating disorders, in addition to ongoing provision of training and secondary consultation. The treatment approach is multidisciplinary and includes medical management, psychological intervention and dietetic input, as well as working with the young people's support networks.

Hospital Outreach Post-Suicidal Engagement (HOPE)

Orvaen Specialist Program's Hospital Outreach Post-Suicidal Engagement (HOPE) team provides responsive follow-up after a suicide attempt, or ideation, within 24 hours, with clients seen for an appointment within 72 hours of referral. HOPE is now in its second year of operation, informed by Orygen research and delivered by our partner organisation the Orygen Specialist program. Orygen's Suicide Prevention Research team has been funded by the William Buckland Foundation and an NHMRC Partnership grant to conduct a five-year evaluation of the implementation and effectiveness of HOPE. The team has completed qualitative interviews with young people, family members and clinicians on their experiences in the first year of the service. In 2024, a longitudinal study including more than 300 young people will commence to determine the effectiveness of the service in reducing suicidal thoughts and behaviour, and the impacts on the wider health system.





Orygen Recovery (YPARC)

Orygen Recovery is a community-based residential facility that provides a short-term 'step up' for a young people aged between 16-25. Orygen Recovery assists young people to work on recovery goals, transitioning to care at home or to prevent an admission to hospital. It has a multidisciplinary workforce, predominantly run by nurses and psychosocial recovery staff, in line with other PARC models. Other team members include a family clinician, psychiatrist, psychiatric registrar as well as a family and youth peer workforce.

Over the past 12 months Orygen Recovery has continued to grow and expand its services. In July Orygen Recovery passed the initial accreditation to run a 24-hour service for 10 young people, which, with amplified staff capacity and experience, increased to 12 beds in March and further to 15 in April. The program is now offered state-wide and to private providers. More than 250 young people have used the service since it opened in May 2022, with a number returning to consolidate the skills they learned during their first visit.





Orygen is Australia's largest mental health research organisation and the largest clinical research organisation for youth mental health in the world. Our research program is focused on impact; by integrating research with care, we aim to create a brighter future for all those impacted by mental health disorders.

These pillars provide a connection between research and clinical care like no other mental health organisation in the world.

Better Identification

How can we best identify those at risk of, or in the earliest stages of illness or suicidal behaviour?

Better Interventions

What are the best interventions to address symptoms and functioning in young people who are at risk of, or are experiencing mental illness or suicidal behaviour, and at what stage? What are the systems of care that will best support the delivery of evidence-based interventions for young people who experience mental ill-health or suicidal behaviour and how are they best implemented?

Better Systems



In 2022-23, our research priorities included:

Eating disorders: The newly established eating disorders research program uses a range of biological and psychosocial measures to gain a better understanding of how eating disorders progress and are maintained, and how we can develop and trial novel therapies. The team's aim is to improve prevention, early identification and intervention, and treatment of eating disorders.

Social exclusion: This team aims to understand the extent to which young people in Australia are socially excluded, and the strong links between social exclusion and poor mental health outcomes such as loneliness and high psychological distress.

Suicide and self-harm: The suicide prevention research program is comprised of a number of separate projects that seek to examine the efficacy, safety and acceptability /of interventions specifically designed for at-risk young people.

Orygen Digital: The primary goal of this team is to pioneer cutting-edge technologies aimed at enhancing youth mental health. These projects encompass virtual reality, artificial intelligence, online social media platforms, and real-time digital support available on demand.

Clinical neuroscience: The objective of this research program is to advance our comprehension of the biological underpinnings of mental illness among young people. This encompasses various aspects, including brain imaging (examining structure, function, and chemistry), cognitive abilities (such as memory and attention), as well as analyses derived from blood samples (such as genetics and immune responses).

Early psychosis: This program focusses on comprehending the biological and psychosocial elements linked with the initial symptoms and early occurrences of psychosis and mania. This research priority includes the work of the Australian Early Psychosis Collaborative Consortium (AEPCC), which brings together researchers, clinicians and young people with lived experience to improve outcomes for young people with early psychosis.



Mood and anxiety: This team is centred on gaining a deeper understanding of depression, anxiety and bi-polar disorder in young people, along with determining the most effective treatment approaches.

Personality disorder: This program is dedicated to comprehending, preventing, and treating severe personality disorders.

Ultra-high risk for psychosis: This team focusses on young people who may be at increased risk of developing schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders, and includes the work of the international research network, PRESCIENT.

Research highlights

This is a selection of just some of the Orygen studies underway during the year.

COGNITION RESEARCH

Development of world-first scale to measure cognitive strengths

The cognition research team is in development of a world-first scale to measure cognitive strengths for young people with mental ill-health. This focus on strengths represents a paradigm shift from the traditional focus on cognitive deficits in mental illness. Previous work demonstrates that while young people wish to have cognitive difficulties validated and addressed, they also want to focus on improving and maintaining their strengths. Focussing on cognitive strengths can help to engage important psychological factors for the treatment process, such as self-esteem and motivation. The scale is currently being developed in a sample of individuals from the general population. It will be tested in a youth mental health sample and finalised in 2024.

Validating cognitive screening for first-episode psychosis

An Orygen-led research study was awarded almost \$2.3 million by the Medical Research Future Fund (MRFF) in 2021 to validate cognitive screening tools for first episode psychosis patients. The CogScreen study addresses a key gap in clinical practice, whereby clinicians do not currently have a quick and effective method of screening for cognitive difficulties, despite being very common for young people with psychosis. In the past year, the CogScreen team has made significant progress in advancing the study, including finalising the study protocol, gaining ethics approval, engaging interstate and international partners, and hiring new staff members. The study will recruit its first participants in late 2023.

TRANSLATIONAL NEUROSCIENCE

Helping young people with psychosis get the right treatment quickly

For around 30 per cent of young people experiencing psychosis, first-line antipsychotic medications are not effective. Instead, a portion of these young people tend to respond to another medication – clozapine.

Unfortunately, our ability to determine who will fail to respond to first-line antipsychotic medications and instead need a prescription of clozapine is very limited. As a result, finding the right treatment for young people with psychosis can often be a long and difficult process. If we can easily predict those who won't benefit from standard medications, we can help these young people find the right medications as early as possible and improve their quality of life.

The GAMMA study aims to find out whether measuring brain activity through an electroencephalogram (EEG) can help make these useful predictions. First-line antipsychotic medications and clozapine affect different naturally occurring chemicals in the brain. By examining electrical activity associated with these chemicals, we may establish a way to identify the best medication treatment for every young person with a psychotic illness.





FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY

VTAC Partnership Project supported by TAL

Generously supported by the TAL Foundation, Orygen is working in partnership with the Victorian Tertiary Admissions Centre (VTAC) to better understand the mental health impact of a range of events on young people completing Year 12 and applying for university.

Every year, approximately 60,000 young people apply to go to university in Victoria. These applications are handled by one central agency, VTAC. Included in the applications are requests for special consideration under the special entry access scheme (SEAS). This scheme aims to compensate for educational disadvantage that a student may have experienced for a range of reasons including mental ill-health. By examining this data we can see the impact that events like bushfire, drought, regional unemployment, pandemics, and others have on the mental health of Year 12 students as reflected in their SEAS applications. The partnership has been working since 2017 and examining data since the 2019 cohort of applicants. Early results have allowed us to see the significant impact of the pandemic. However, also striking is the separate impact of the 2019-2020 bushfires, which is also observable.

Insights gained from this partnership will allow for more focussed support to be provided to Year 12 students in communities impacted by these kinds of events in the future. This will help more young people make a successful transition from their secondary to post-secondary studies, give them a greater chance of realising their educational and career ambitions, and reduce the likelihood of developing a more persistent or disabling mental illness.

Opportunities to make this a national project, as well as linking to other related datasets such as NAPLAN, are being explored. The long-term potential for identification and mitigation of mental health risk in Year 12 students through this project is immense and exciting.

SUBSTANCE USE

Novel therapy aims to reduce use and address mental health concerns

Use of alcohol and other drugs typically starts in adolescence, with the prevalence of substance use disorders peaking between ages 18-20. Young people with mental ill-health are at high-risk of having problems with substance use. Despite this, young people do not typically seek help for substance use problems until they become severe, meaning it can often take years before young people receive help. This study is a randomised controlled trial of a novel integrated psychological therapy which aims to reduce substance use while also addressing mental health concerns in young people presenting to headspace services.

The trial completed the recruitment phase in July 2023 and recruited young people from headspace services in Werribee, Glenroy, Sunshine and Craigieburn. Follow-ups will continue until July 2024. The study was funded in 2018 by one of Australia's largest independent family philanthropic funds, Gandel Philanthropy, and by the Marian and EH Flack Trust.

Helping people manage methamphetamine use

Methamphetamine use is associated with several harms, particularly in young adults. There is a lack of effective options to help people manage their methamphetamine use: medications are needed to complement psychosocial treatment and improve outcomes. The MASKOT study aims to determine the safety and acceptability of ketamine as a treatment for young adults aged 15-35 who use methamphetamine. The MASKOT study is supported by a seed funding grant awarded to Orygen by the National Centre for Clinical Research on Emerging Drugs. The study will complete recruitment in 2024.

Promising initial results for smoking cessation early intervention study

In Australia, cigarette smoking is disproportionately concentrated in vulnerable groups, including people experiencing mental illness. One such group is young people with features of borderline personality disorder. The MYSS-HYPE study investigated whether contingency management - a behavioural treatment providing structured financial incentives for periods without smoking - is safe and acceptable in young people with borderline personality disorder features being treated at Orygen's HYPE and Youth Mood Clinics. Nine young people have completed the study, with promising initial results. Recruitment concluded in October 2023. MYSS-HYPE is funded by the Medicine, Dentistry and Health Sciences Faculty at the University of Melbourne.

Cannabis use disorder

Cannabis use disorder affects more than six per cent of young Australians before the age of 25. Many seek help, but there are limited effective treatment options. GRACE will be the first study internationally to investigate the potential effectiveness of a non-stimulant attention-deficit hyperactivity medication guanfacine XR - to reduce cannabis use and improve function in young people seeking treatment for their cannabis use. The GRACE study is part of a formal industry partnership with the Youth Support and Advocacy Service (YSAS), the largest provider of alcohol and other drug services to young people in Victoria. GRACE began recruitment in mid-2023 and is expected to conclude in September 2025. It is supported by an Alcohol and Drug Research Innovation Agenda (ADRIA) grant, awarded for the Victorian Department of Health and Human Services via the Victorian Alcohol and Drug Association.

MOOD AND ANXIETY

Social anxiety in autistic youth

Autistic young people experience extremely high levels of comorbid mental illness, with social anxiety being particularly common, however there are limited effective treatments.

PAPAYA is a randomised controlled trial funded by the Medical Research Future Fund (MRFF). It will test whether a novel medication-assisted psychotherapy approach improves social anxiety in young autistic people and is expected to start recruitment in April 2024.

Orygen study the first to evaluate suicidal mental images

Suicidal ideation can take the form of verbal thoughts or mental images. The Mental Images of Suicide at Orygen (MISO) study is the first study to evaluate suicidal mental images in young people with mood disorders. Initial published pilot data suggests that suicidal mental images are very common, with 66p er cent of the young people reporting to experience these images often. Distress resulting from these images, but not verbal suicidal thoughts, was associated with the number of past suicide attempts. Data collection is currently ongoing in a larger sample. In addition, a new study (funded by Suicide Prevention Australia) has been initiated which aims to pilot test a novel treatment for this specific form of suicidal ideation (i.e., suicidal mental images): imagery rescripting. Clinicians from Orygen's Mood Clinic have been trained in administering the intervention and recruitment for the study is ongoing.

Worldwide leader in neuroimaging

Orygen leads the largest neuroimaging consortium on suicidal thoughts and behaviours alobally. It brings together researchers from more than 60 research institutes worldwide to share data from more than 15.000 people with and without suicidal thoughts and behaviours (funded by the National Institutes of Health). The team's first publication focussed on young people and showed that abnormalities in brain structure of the frontal pole may represent a vulnerability for suicide attempt in young people with mood disorders. The team also leads the ENIGMA Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) consortium, the largest international consortium to date that pools neuroimaging and clinical data from more than 50 sites worldwide to elucidate neurobiological mechanisms of depression. The team has published the largest studies on brain alterations associated with depression using this dataset.

Early intervention for bipolar disorder BLENDs forms of care

A pilot trial comparing a multi-component model of early intervention for bipolar disorder (termed BLEND) with an enhanced form of standard care (termed ESC) has been conducted at Orygen. BLEND combines bipolar-specific psychology, psychiatry, and peer-support work with online, digital content via MOST, and aims to improve outcomes for those in the early-stages of bipolar disorder. BLEND was safe and acceptable to young people, and feasible to deliver in settings similar to headspaces or other integrated secondary care settings.

A larger trial is now underway using the BLEND model with a larger sample size to determine the effectiveness of the model relative to ESC in reducing the proportion of time young people with bipolar disorder are in mood episodes. Based on data and feedback from the BLEND-1 pilot trial, episodes of care have been extended to eight months. Recruitment for BLEND-2 is anticipated to start before mid-2024.

Body image and eating disorders

The newly-established eating disorders research program uses a range of biological and psychosocial measures to gain a better understanding of how eating disorders develop and are maintained, and how we can develop and trial novel therapies. The team's aim is to improve prevention, early identification and intervention, and treatment of eating disorders.

The research undertaken by the eating disorders team uses comprehensive neurobiological, biological, psychological and socio-cultural methods, and is focussed primarily on three interrelated streams:

- Understanding the factors and mechanisms involved in the development and maintenance of eating disorders to inform prevention and treatment.
- Developing tools such as biomarkers that can be used for more accurate diagnosis, early intervention and prevention of eating disorders.
- Developing more effective interventions and treatments for people with eating disorders and improving clinical services and support programs for people with eating disorders (and their supports) across the continuum of care.

The team has been working on establishing innovative projects within each of these streams at Orygen. Among the most important studies is the establishment of a world-first lived experience-informed clinical research registry for eating disorders. This registry will be implemented in the eating disorders clinical service at Orygen and will collect important information that will help improve the understanding of eating disorders and how we can better tailor treatments.



AT-RISK OF PSYCHOSIS RESEARCH

PRESCIENT: Record-breaking Orygen study part of world's largest UHR dataset

PRESCIENT is an international research network with the overall aim to improve prediction of clinical outcomes in the ultra-high risk (UHR) for psychosis clinical population in order to better direct existing treatments and to identify novel treatment targets.

The study received a \$33 million grant from the United States' National Institutes of Health (NIH) in 2020, believed to be the largest competitive grant ever awarded by the NIH to Australian-led medical research.

PRESCIENT is part of the NIH-funded Accelerating Medicines Partnership (AMP) in Schizophrenia, AMP Schizophrenia (AMP SCZ). This public-private partnership aims to meet the need for early therapeutic interventions for people at risk of developing schizophrenia and other psychoses.

The PRESCIENT research network consists of Orygen as the Australian hub, nine international recruitment sites, and a number of scientific partners.

Participants, recruited over a two-year period, receive standard clinical care, and data will be collected across a range of modalities, including clinical information, neurocognitive, neuroimaging, neurophysiological information, fluid biospecimens, digital biomarkers, and speech and facial data. PRESCIENT recruitment has progressed well this period, mainly at Orygen and headspace clinical services. When combined with data from another research network, ProNET, it will be the world's largest and most comprehensive UHR dataset. Recruitment is on track to end in September 2024.

Findings from AMP SCZ will enable researchers to develop algorithms and risk calculators that predict the course of illness in UHR individuals. This will set the stage for a range of clinical trials of novel treatments, particularly biomarker guided treatments, following the progress made in other Accelerating Medicines Partnerships, such as in diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. The impact will be maximised through rapid data sharing and an 'open science' approach.

The Self, Neuroscience and Psychosis (SNAP) Study

SNAP is a large observational study that aims to empirically test an integrated neurophenomenological model of schizophrenia spectrum disorder based on disturbance of the basic sense of self. The study is funded by the Wellcome Trust, UK. The concept of "self-disturbance" has been theorised to be a key vulnerability marker of schizophrenia and incorporates anomalous experiences such as disturbed senses of ownership, agency, first person perspective, and identity formation. If this theoretical model of schizophrenia spectrum disorders is validated through the SNAP study, the team hopes to translate it into tools that can be used in clinical practice to inform diagnostic, prognostic and treatment decision-making.

The sample will be made up of 400 helpseeking young people at ultra-high risk of psychosis, 100 help-seeking young people experiencing other psychiatric concerns (clinical comparison group), and 50 healthy control participants. All participants will complete clinical, neurocognitive, and electroencephalographic assessments. The SNAP team has currently enrolled 210 young people to the study.



Australian Early Psychosis Collaborative Consortium (AEPCC)

AEPCC brings together researchers, clinicians and people with lived experience to improve outcomes for young people with early psychosis.

With initial funding from the Wellcome Trust, AEPCC is building three connected systems, which are firsts for the mental health sector and modelled on best practice approaches used in other fields such as oncology.

Clinical Trials and Translation Network (CTTN)

The CTTN brings together the early psychosis research community nationally to design innovative large-scale clinical trials based on priority areas. The inaugural AEPCC CTTN forum was held in March and saw researchers working alongside clinicians and people with lived experience to set research priorities for the sector. Following extensive consultation, AEPCC is set to facilitate national clinical trials that aim to provide answers as to what treatments will deliver the best long-term outcomes for people with early psychosis.

Clinical Quality Registry (CQR)

AEPCC has continued to develop and test the web-based application, CQR, that clinicians will use to routinely collect, analyse and report client data. The CQR will generate client summaries, making it easier for both clinicians and clients to chart progress and make treatment decisions. It will also increase knowledge sharing between different clinical sites to ensure every client receives best practice treatment nationally. In 2024 the CQR will be trialled at five clinical sites: EPICC in Melbourne, Bondi Junction and St Vincent's in Sydney, as well as sites in Adelaide and Darwin.

Lived Experience Network

In the past year the Lived Experience Network Establishment Committee (LENEC) increased to 19 members, including young people who have experienced early psychosis and their carers. Meeting monthly, the LENEC has provided advice on the design of several research studies. It has also been developing an Instagram account, that will enable those with lived experience to connect with the early psychosis community, understand psychosis better and stay across the latest evidence. The account will launch in March 2024.

SUICIDE AND SELF-HARM PREVENTION

Preventing suicide in schools: the MAPSS project

The aim of the Multi-modal Approach to Preventing Suicide in Schools (MAPSS) project is to evaluate a suicide prevention program integrating three components: 1) psychoeducation workshops delivered to all Year 10 students; 2) screening to identify students at risk; and 3) delivery of online cognitive behavioural therapy (Reframe IT) to students experiencing suicidal thoughts. The program is a partnership with the University of Melbourne, Lifeline Australia and the Victorian Department of Education and Training, funded by The National Health and Medical Research Council.

The study commenced in Victorian schools in 2020 but was restricted by COVID school closures during 2020-21. There are 1,449 participants to date, (median age = 15.5 years, 52 per cent female) recruited from 20 high schools across north-west Melbourne.

Preliminary results indicated that 36 per cent of participants experienced some level of suicidal ideation, with suicide attempts in the sample from the last 12 months less common (5 per cent) but still prevalent. Despite this, fewer than half of students experiencing suicidal thoughts were currently linked with school wellbeing supports. The SafeTALK evaluation findings showed that 86 per cent of students found the program worthwhile and more than two thirds found it enjoyable. The study will continue until the end of the 2024 school year.





New #chatsafe resources keep young people safe online

Orygen's world-first guide for safe online conversations, #chatsafe, has been revamped to include advice for young people about how to discuss self-harm and suicide in a healthy manner on social media and other digital platforms.

The new guidelines also include advice for young people on how to engage with potentially dangerous online games, challenges and hoaxes. In another first, this second edition of #chatsafe also includes dedicated advice for influencers who create content related to mental health and may engage with young people with mental ill-health.

#chatsafe: a young person's guide for communicating safely online about self-harm and suicide, is an evidencebased set of guidelines created by Orygen's world-class research team in partnership with young people.

Originally published in 2018, this is the second edition of the globally recognised #chatsafe guidelines, which have been translated into 25 languages and can be found in the safety centres of many major social media platforms.



Knowledge Translation

The real-world impact of Orygen's internationally recognised research relies on ensuring this knowledge is translated into clinical practice that improves the lives of young people receiving treatment for their mental health.



The 'Reflecting on COVID, Climate and Complexity' panel at the National YES Symposium, chaired by Orygen Global's Maddison O'Gradey-Lee (right).

The 'inspiring' YES Community of Practice

In 2023, the Service Implementation and Quality Improvement (SIQI) team launched the Youth Enhanced Services (YES) Community of Practice (CoP) to provide opportunities for staff working in YES programs to connect, share experiences and learnings, and to build skills and knowledge.

More than 130 YES program representatives who registered for the CoP attended a calendar of online events on topics such as trauma-informed care, eating disorders, single session approaches to care and peer group supervision for emerging leaders. The highlight of the CoP was the National YES Symposium held in May in Melbourne, which celebrated the great work of YES programs across the country. The symposium was opened by the Hon. Emma McBride, Assistant Minister for Mental Health and Suicide Prevention. The program involved a range of experts in keynote presentations, panel discussions and workshops covering topics from working with First Nations young people, digital approaches in youth mental health and working with young people impacted by climate change.

The Symposium was enthusiastically received by the 270 people who travelled from around Australia to attend. Feedback shows they valued hearing from a diverse array of voices and left feeling inspired.

It allows the worker and team to feel supported, and that it is not sitting on their shoulders alone.

YES program clinician reflects on

Orygen's secondary consultation program

The secondary consultation program: consult, reflect, enhance

The SIQI team has delivered a secondary consultation program that has provided specialist input and case-based learning to youth mental health services nationally since 2019. In response to the positive feedback from participants, the program has scaled up to include three streams: psychiatry secondary consult, specialist clinical secondary consult and reflective practice.

In the past year, 35 secondary consultations were delivered to seven services. Of these, 17 sessions were psychiatry-based, 13 were specialist clinical consults, and five were reflective practice.

An internal evaluation of the program demonstrated the program is continuing to meet an important need for services across the country, building the knowledge and confidence of staff and reducing stress of participating clinicians.

The Implementation Lab

Each year, the Implementation Lab, delivered by the SIQI team, provides 12 months of quality improvement support to YES programs and Primary Health Networks nationwide. In the past year, the team worked with four programs across New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia and the Northern Territory: delivering five workshops, 11 secondary consults and 37 meetings with lab sites.

The support provided to services included piloting the MOST platform, refining and piloting new eligibility criteria, reviewing service models, improving referral pathways and embedding reflective practice.



The SIQI team.

Australian Early Psychosis Program (AEPP)

The AEPP team is responsible for supporting the headspace early psychosis program in several ways. In the past year key activities have included workforce development and support through workshops, clinical consultation and an online learning management system, while also providing strategic support for leaders, PHNs and other lead agencies.

Online workshops were offered to all sites and locations and reflected the needs of the services. This included an introduction to cognitive behavioural therapy for psychosis, comorbid substance use and psychosis, working with young people from multicultural backgrounds experiencing psychosis and comprehensive assessment of at risk mental state (CAARMS).

Participants were asked to reflect on their learnings, consider how their practice would change and how they would embed their new knowledge into practice and share this information on the Hub.

Chinwags give workforce new connections

A new addition to the team's regular avenues of connection to the workforce is 'Chinwags'. This way of translating knowledge involves a subject matter expert or person with clinical or lived experience of a specific area speaking without a formal presentation, meaning the audience (the early psychosis workforce) can ask questions that are clinically relevant to them. Some of the themes in 2022-23 have included working with BPD and psychosis, family work, what's culture got to do with it?' and vicarious trauma and self-care. Evaluations have shown Chinwags to be a popular model for ongoing knowledge transfer. Qualitative evaluation feedback:

Great work with the online training. Loved the breakout groups and role playing. Wonderful.

This format was great! I loved the webinar/ discussion followed by consultation to apply to real life.



Virtual and in-person forums

A major focus of the past year has been the AEPP forums program, designed to promote networking and educational opportunities. The early psychosis forum held in August was the first in-person event following pandemic lockdowns, with 78 people attending in Adelaide. The theme of the forum was *Review and Renewal*.

In February, more than 80 participants attended an online forum covering topics such as ADHD and cognition.

From top to bottom: Orygen's AEPP team at the National YES Symposium with Orygen Global Director Craig Hodges (centre); Participants in the February AEPP online forum.

Mental health in elite sport

Orygen partners with AFL to deliver mental health program guide

Commissioned by the AFL, Orygen and researchers from the University of Melbourne in 2023 released a comprehensive evidence guide, 'What works for mental health in sporting teams?'. The guide was designed to help sporting teams, clubs and organisations make informed choices about the implementation of mental health programs, based on available evidence about the effectiveness and safety of existing programs. Throughout the guide, a star rating system was used so readers could quickly identify the level of evidence for each program, as supported by the most current available research.





Orygen team members alongside other conference guests inside the IOC Headquarters in Lausanne, Switzerland.

Orygen at International Olympic Committee in Switzerland

Professor Rosemary Purcell, who leads Orygen's Elite Sport and Mental Health team, was invited to join an International Olympic Committee (IOC) Expert Consensus Group on Elite Youth Athletes. The Expert Group convened in Lausanne in May to work on a consensus statement regarding best practices for protecting and promoting health and wellbeing in elite youth athletes. Prof. Purcell and members of the team at Orygen, including Associate Professor Simon Rice, research fellow Kate Gwyther and PhD candidate Vita Pilkington, were also invited to lead a scoping review on mental health and wellbeing in elite youth athletes, to accompany the main consensus statement. This work has been submitted to the prestigious *British Journal of Sports Medicine* for publication and will be critical to promoting early intervention for mental health for elite athletes, and safeguarding the physical and psychological health of child and adolescent (youth) athletes worldwide.

Australian Eating Disorders Research and Translation Centre

In the past year, the centre has been working on three large signature studies aimed at gaining a better understanding of the mechanisms that underly eating disorders and running novel treatment trials in anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa/binge eating disorder.

Professor Rosemary Purcell is co-leading the translation stream and Associate Professor Andrea Phillipou is leading the national network of the centre, which is based at the University of Sydney. Dr Erica Neill from Orygen also joined the team in 2023, as a Research Translation Fellow working with the centre.

Orygen Global

ASEAN-Australia Youth Mental Health Fellowships

The ASEAN-Australia Youth Mental Health Fellowships are a five-month online program for young people aged 18-30 from Australia and ASEAN member states who are passionate about mental health and who want to create change within their community. Throughout the year, 15 young people participated in the inaugural ASEAN-Australia Youth Mental Health Fellowships' training modules, mentoring and global advocacy opportunities, including a fourday conference in Jakarta, Indonesia. The program has been made possible through a partnership with the Australian Government, which has generously committed to the delivery of the ASEAN-Australia Youth Mental Health Fellowships.

UNICEF Serbia

Orygen Global is working with UNICEF Serbia and the Institute of Mental Health Serbia to build the capacity of professionals in the health, education and welfare sectors to better support young people with mental health challenges. Over the past year, Orygen provided a comprehensive training program to 25 professionals in Serbia, who have since trained 150 professionals across the three sectors. A Minimum Service Package for Youth Mental Health is in development to support the implementation of the skills learnt through the training, with a plan to expand the program nationally pending evaluation.

Child and Youth Working Group of the Global Mental Health Action Network

As a co-chair, Orygen Global plays an active role in the Child and Youth Working Group of the Global Mental Health Action Network (GMHAN) which has over 400 members. In June GMHAN hosted a community session at the UNICEF Global Forum for Children and Youth. This event saw Orygen Global, UNICEF, United for Global Mental Health and the co-chairs of the Child and Youth Working Group convene with participants from all over the world to hear young people discuss the importance of authentic youth participation in youth mental health programs.

International Association for Youth Mental Health Conference in Copenhagen

Orygen Global was instrumental in ensuring that young people from low and middle resource countries were fully engaged as part of the International Association for Youth Mental Health biennial conference held in Copenhagen, Denmark in September-October. Young people from Africa, South America and Asia were actively involved in plenary presentations and workshops that highlighted some of the work being undertaken in more challenging settings to support young people's mental health. Four Orygen Global Fellows presented about their experience in the Fellowship at the conference, allowing them to present their projects and apply their advocacy skills on a global scale.







Thank you for perusing and accepting my application for

the scholarship, I am very grateful for your feedback and feel very privileged to begin this journey into my upcoming career.

Jordan Bulzomi

I feel incredibly blessed receiving the scholarship for the Cert IV in the mental health and peer



support. For me this opportunity encouraged and stoked the passion I have and has motivated me to work hard in achieving this qualification.

Caitlin McAilster

Orygen becomes a Registered Training Organisation

After successfully obtaining Registered Training Organisation (RTO) status in October, Orygen RTO launched its first Certificate IV in Mental Health Peer Work (consumer) in 2023. Through collaboration with the Victorian Department of Health, Orygen RTO was able to offer students the opportunity to apply for a total of 30 scholarships worth \$5000 each, including \$1000 study stipends. Orygen RTO subsequently welcomed 31 students for its very first cohort.

The course has been developed by a wide range of mental health professionals including peer workers, mental health nurses, social workers and OTs. The peer work content, training and assessment is led by Betty Do and Ash Hem. Betty and Ash bring invaluable expertise from their diverse experiences in mental health peer support, youth, LGBTQIA+, and disability fields. Orygen RTO looks forward to the continued success of its students in 2024.

Graduate education

Orygen's graduate education courses provide the latest theory, research and evidencebased approaches in mental health care to those who work with young people experiencing mental ill-health. In the past year, the Graduate Education team continued to build the skills and knowledge of the youth mental health workforce through a suite of online graduate programs delivered in partnership with the University of Melbourne. These include the Graduate Certificate in Youth Mental Health, Graduate Diploma in Youth Mental Health, Master of Youth Mental Health and Graduate Certificate in Managing Youth Self-Harm and Suicide.

Across 2022-23 almost 100 graduate professionals were enrolled, including psychiatrists, GPs, nurses, psychologists, social workers, occupational therapists, counsellors, student welfare coordinators and teachers. Orygen's Professional Certificate in Youth Psychiatry also saw 23 students complete the program in 2023. The Professional Certificate is a one-year, graduate level program designed specifically for psychiatry trainees or consultants from Australia and overseas, who wish to specialise in youth mental health.

A process of collaboration that began in 2019, the Graduate Education team this year successfully attained approval from the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists to establish the Professional Certificate in Youth Psychiatry as part of an accredited training program, in a new psychiatric sub-speciality of youth mental health. It is due to launch in 2025.

The Graduate Education team has also engaged in extensive stakeholder consultations with industry experts in the past year, with a view to design and develop a suite of micro-credentials in youth mental health care for general practitioners. The proposed micro-credentials have been approved for development by the University of Melbourne and will be delivered in partnership with the university's Department of General Practice and Primary Care in 2025.



2022-23 Toolkits and Guidelines

Sexual health and school attendance challenges were the two key priority areas for resource development in the 2022-23 year.

The workforce development team, in collaboration with leading clinical experts, researchers, young people and families, produced a wealth of resources including a fact sheet on healthy relationships, an interactive online learning module on supporting sexual health and wellbeing in youth mental health services, a clinical practice point for mental health professionals supporting young people experiencing school refusal and a guide for promoting school attendance.

Orygen on Department of Education Mental Health School Menu

Orygen has two training packages on the Victorian Department of Education Mental Health School Menu: The Trauma Informed Care (TIC) and Brief Intervention Toolkit (BIT), which are available for purchase by secondary schools across Victoria.

In 2023, the workforce development team delivered TIC to two secondary schools (regional and rural) with a total of 155 people trained in trauma informed care. The TIC package trains participants in evidencebased best practice for providing traumainformed care in education settings. It aims to build the capacity of schools to adopt trauma-informed approaches in their systems and processes. TIC also includes post-training implementation sessions to develop a sustainable, whole-school action plan to embed trauma-informed care, with the aim of supporting long-term impacts for students and the school community.

In post-evaluation, school staff reported improvements in knowledge and strong intentions to use trauma-informed approaches with students, with most seeing this as a high priority.

Looking ahead, in 2024 the workforce development team will be delivering the brief intervention toolkit to two secondary school wellbeing teams and TIC to all staff at two more secondary schools.



School mental health practitioners 100% satisfied with Orygen support

In 2022-23, Orygen clinical consultants have supported mental health practitioners working with young people in government schools across metro and regional Victoria, including English language centres and specialist schools.

The activities offered to MHPs include a practice advice line (PAL) available to MHPs during school terms between the hours of 9am-4.30pm, weekly virtual drop-in clinics, virtual 'Chinwags' twice a term and three spotlight forums where MHPs were invited to attend to listen and engage with clinical and non-clinical experts.

Across the year, there were 600 registrations across the three events.

100% 🛑

of MHPs who attended reported that they would recommend the activity to a colleague, were satisfied with the content and format, and strongly agreed they would use what they have learnt in practice.



IPS framework launches nationwide

Orygen began rolling out workforce development activities for the Individual Placement and Support (IPS) workforce in 2022-23 across 50 headspaces nationally. This launch was enabled by the IPS Workforce Development Framework for headspace project, funded by the Australian Government.

These 50 centres deliver the IPS program, which integrates vocational support with clinical mental health care to focus on helping young people with mental ill-health return to work or study.

The framework was developed in consultation with IPS workers and key stakeholders and features a range of activities, including microcredential training and a professional support program, to support the development and career progression of the IPS workforce in headspace.





The Orygen Institute

After officially launching in May 2022, the Orygen Institute had an eventful first year. The Orygen Institute held two national and one international event focused on giving voice to new narratives in public policy conversations about youth mental health. Two of these events included workshops which, along with the team's policy analysis and development, generated new solutions for driving policy reform focused on supporting young people to thrive. The collective efforts of the policy team, a range of Orygen staff and workshop participants has enabled the Orygen Institute to set a new benchmark for policy impact.

A national youth suicide prevention plan

The Orygen Institute hosted an online discussion in July that considered what is needed to reduce self-harm and suicide among young people. Facilitated by Dr Melissa Sweet, founder of Croakey Heath Media, the panel included:

- Anne Hollonds, National Children's
 Commissioner;
- Dr Summer May Finlay, University of Canberra; University of Wollongong;
- Joe Ball, Switchboard Victoria; and
- Annabel Ramsay, batyr.

The panellists explored the issues impacting young people's mental health, the complexity of youth-focused policy and emphasised the importance of such plans interacting with other polices to ensure a cohesive, effective response.

International post-COVID workshop

In October, at the sixth International Youth Mental Health Conference in Copenhagen, Denmark, the Orygen Institute facilitated a conference workshop that explored the policy priorities needed to improve youth mental health as we emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic.

The workshop included presentations and activities from:

- Tricia Tan Hui Ling, Ministry of Health Advisory Group (Singapore);
- Dr Naeem Dalal, Zambia National Public Health Institute (Zambia);
- James Sale, United for Global Mental Health (UK); and
- Vivienne Browne, Orygen (Australia).

Workshop sessions were structured to enable a re-imagining of policy in response to COVID-19 and beyond. The four sessions focused on experiences of policy decisions during the pandemic, identifying policy priorities for youth mental health services, how would policy change and who should be involved and addressing power dynamics and incorporating empathic design.

Life transitions

The Orygen Institute released a policy report in December on supporting young people through life transitions. Young people navigate many changes throughout their lives, such as leaving school, finding career employment, making new friends and moving out of home.

These transitions are often connected, leading to change across many life domains. While transitions can be rewarding, they can also represent challenging and difficult times with long-term impacts. The policy report identified opportunities available to prevent or minimise distress for young people during times of change.

Launch of the Mission Australia and Orygen report on climate change and youth mental health

Orygen's partnership with Mission Australia continued in 2022-23 and included the release of a report revealing the alarming impact of climate concerns on the mental health of young people in Australia. Utilising Mission Australia's data from their annual Australiawide survey of 19,000 young people aged 15-19, Orygen researchers identified that young people who reported being 'very concerned' or 'extremely concerned' about climate change were more likely to report several adverse indicators such as higher psychological distress and feeling negative about the future.

The authors of the report, published in April, called on governments to update their youth and mental health strategies to reflect the impact of climate change on young people's mental health, to upskill professionals in the realm of climate-related distress and to partner with young people to co-design solutions that will address their climaterelated mental health concerns.

National summit on Intergenerational Fairness

Orygen hosted a National Summit on Intergenerational Fairness in April, in partnership with Think Forward, Foundations for Tomorrow, EveryGen and the Foundation for Young Australians. The event featured a keynote address from Sophie Howe, the first Future Generations Commissioner for Wales, and a panel of experts who discussed experiences and challenges of intergenerational inequity and its impact on young Australians. Other panellists included Joey Moloney, Grattan Institute; Jahdai Vigona, NT Young Australian of the Year 2023; Professor Susan Harris-Rimmer, Griffith University; and Bailey Riley, National Union of Students.



Delegates of the National Summit on Intergenerational Fairness, April 2023.

Submissions

The Orygen Institute made 29 submissions to a wide range of national and state and territory inquiries in 2022-23. In addition to submissions on health strategies and services, there were 11 submissions into inquiries relating to the social determinants of health, reflecting The Orygen Institute's expanded focus on the drivers of increasing youth mental ill-health. This focus matches the new Australian Government's development of a national wellbeing framework, Measuring What Matters. The value of participating in public inquiries was evident in the policy impact The Orygen Institute had, including the introduction of new MBS (Medicare Benefits Scheme) items to support allied health practitioners participate in case conferencing and inclusion of student wellbeing in the Productivity Commission's Review of the National School Reform Agreement.

Government relations

Over the past 12 months, we continued to meet regularly with key ministers and representatives in the Australian Government, including the Treasurer, the Deputy Prime Minister, Minister for Health and the Assistant Minister for Mental Health and Suicide Prevention. Orygen also met with several key state and territory leaders including the premiers of Victoria and Tasmania, as well as the ministers responsible for mental health in Western Australia, Queensland, NSW, ACT and Victoria.

Orygen was fortunate to also host the Deputy Prime Minister, the Hon. Richard Marles MP and the Deputy Premier of Victoria, the Hon. Jacinta Allan MP at Orygen HQ in Parkville, to provide them with a tour of the facility and a demonstration of our virtual reality lab.

Clockwise: Professor Pat McGorry and the Hon. Richard Marles MP; Professor Pat McGorry and the Hon. Jacinta Allan, Premier of Victoria; The Hon. Richard Marles MP.









Orygen also welcomed the Federal Minister for Indigenous Australians, the Hon. Linda Burney MP, in March when our Executive Director and Head of the First Nations Team had the opportunity to discuss work underway against our Cultural Strengthening Action Plan and the important focus on supporting the social and emotional wellbeing of young Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islanders.

Assistant Minister for Mental Health and Suicide Prevention, the Hon. Emma McBride MP opened the Youth Enhanced Services (YES) symposium at the Melbourne Convention and Exhibition Centre (MCEC) in May. The event was attended by over 200 key service providers and commissioners and it was wonderful to have the valuable work being done by YES providers across the country acknowledged by the Assistant Minister. During this period Orygen received a boost to funding for the National Centre of Excellence in Youth Mental Health agreement between 2023-25 and secured a continuation of funding from the Victorian Government to deliver the Orygen Digital's MOST platform. Funding was also secured from the Victorian Government to establish an eating disorders research program at Orygen.

The Victorian budget handed down in May also included funding for a feasibility study and business case to build a youth inpatient unit at the Parkville site.

Orygen thanks all of our government funders for their continued support in 2022-23.





MOST marks milestone

Orygen Digital's flagship digital mental health service, MOST, celebrated an important milestone, ticking over 5000 users across Victoria, New South Wales and Queensland in January. Following this exciting achievement, Orygen Digital successfully launched an app version of MOST, for iPhone in March and Android in June. Duplicating the web browser experience, the app has made it easier for young people to access MOST on-the-go by using their smartphones. The team also received renewed funding for MOST, to the amount of \$6 million, from the Victorian Government in the 2023-24 budget. MOST then took another step in its arowth strategy by launching in the Australian Capital Territory in June. It was made available through referral from the Canberra and Tuggeranong headspace centres, and Canberra Hospital's Child and Adult Mental Health Service (CAMHS). In addition, it was accessible through the Catholic Care Youth Wellbeing Program, marking the first time MOST has been implemented in a service to specifically address supporting young people too unwell for primary care, but not unwell enough for state-based services. More than 70 local adolescent mental health service workers in the ACT have received training and services have been referring young people to the additional support offered by MOST.

Award-winning MOST rebrand

Working with external agency Studio MASS, Orygen Digital's product team consulted with young people to define a new brand for the MOST experience. The new brand went live in October, along with improvements to make it easier to navigate through chosen activities and support. The creation of MOST's new look was the first product brand to be designed by Orygen outside the master brand. At the 2023 Australian Design Awards, Studio MASS won a silver medal in the Graphic Design – Identity and Branding category, for its work on MOST.



Orygen Digital receives a Wellcome investment

Orygen Digital's virtual reality (VR) program received a \$5.3m grant from UK charitable foundation, Wellcome, to create, trial and implement tailored VR therapy specifically to improve social cognition in young people with early psychosis. The funding will be used to test and implement a VR therapy program which can be rolled out across clinical practices nationwide post-trial. The trial, set to run from 2023-2025, aims to build national networks to deliver these cutting-edge therapies at scale around the country, and then internationally.

Mello launches with impressive trial results

Orygen Digital's world-first smartphone app which provides personalised therapeutic intervention for stuck thinking, Mello, completed a randomised control trial in late 2022. The results, which showed after using Mello for six weeks, 79 per cent of users experienced a reduction in depression and 82 per cent experienced a reduction in anxiety, were published in 2023. The beta version of Mello was launched in the App Store in May and the next version, Mello 2.0 will be released in 2024.



Premier the Hon, Jacinta Allen MP visits Orygen's VR lab in February. Below: with Professor Andrew Thompson and Dr Roos Pot-Kolder.



YOTES Berry Street launch

Thanks to corporate partner, RACV, a trial of the Youth Online Training and Employment System (YOTES) was launched in 2022-23. This digital platform supports young people attending Berry Street School, an independent specialist secondary school with campuses in Ballarat, Morwell, Narre Warren and Shepparton. YOTES is a moderated digital career support platform providing access to evidence-based career education and connecting young people to a qualified career practitioner, peer mentors and other students. Young people attending Berry Street School were supported online and on-campus to explore their options, create career action plans and start gaining experience to support their next career steps. More than 80 students are involved in the YOTES trial, with young people seeking online support and accessing more than 1000 pieces of curriculum-aligned content.

To further integrate the platform into classroom settings and extend the support offered, Orygen staff spent more than 70 hours on campuses, supporting students and training 35 Berry Street School teachers and staff to use YOTES.



The Orygen, Berry Street School and RACV teams at the launch of YOTES in Schools in May.


A revolution in the way we work

Our people continue to play a pivotal role in supporting Orygen's growth and transformation.

Orygen's ongoing commitment to the health and wellbeing of our workforce cumulated in the delivery of a robust workplace health and safety strategy. This strategy has now delivered a broad range of improvements including a new reporting system that promotes incidents, including psychological safety incidents, being reported so they can be tracked and responded to efficiently.

An important focus for the year was the development of a robust reporting system, which was developed by the People and Culture team and resulted in the delivery of more insightful data. This in turn positively informed people strategies and programs. Data-driven decisions will continue to be used to positively impact our workforce and to support recruitment and retention strategies.

The P&C team continued to use contemporary strategies to attract a highly skilled workforce and introduced new starter recruitment and induction surveys to measure and inform these practices. Both surveys showed a 95% positive response rate. Equality and equity continued to be a focus, with introduction of an organisation remuneration framework and related policies.

To ensure Orygen people are proactively supported, service delivery models were refined by introducing a People Assist function to deliver timely support for first tier questions and advice.

Orygen's second organisation-wide staff engagement survey saw 74% of staff contribute to the survey. Results highlighted our people's commitment to Orygen's purpose, values and to one another, as well as opportunities for improvement such as processes and learning and development. The results continue to inform strategies and initiatives that harness our strengths and address challenges in the most impactful ways.



Volunteer assistance program

Orygen opened its volunteer-run assistance program in July, to support to young people and their families by providing much needed items such as clothing, non-perishable food and hygiene packs. During the program's first year, 20 volunteers were engaged to lead and operate the program under the supervision of an Orygen Volunteer Engagement Coordinator. The team fulfilled and delivered 115 clinician orders across the Orygen service, sourced more than 1000 items of new clothing via charity partner Thread Together, sourced and distributed five vans of nonperishable food items from charity partner Foodbank, sourced 550 hygiene and pamper packs via partner organisation Pinchapoo and distributed 200 Christmas hampers to Orygen's headspace centres in December.



A big thank you

Orygen extends our heartfelt gratitude to our dedicated supporters and partners who stand alongside us in our mission to ensure young people can grow and thrive into adulthood. Your generosity profoundly influences how Orygen is able to positively impact the mental health of young people today and for years to come. We thank our entire community of wonderful supporters, our major donors, corporate partners and trusts and foundations. Without your support, Orygen's reach and results would not be possible.





From top to bottom: Anthea Jackson (left), and Karlyn Molloy (right) from TAL visiting Orygen Parkville; TAL staff visit Orygen; Our corporate partners, RACV visit Orygen to see their support in action.



Our corporate and community partners

RACV supports young people to achieve education goals

Now in its third year, the Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) partnership with Orygen continues to support young people with mental ill-health across regional Victoria to achieve their education and employment goals.

Across 2022-23 the partnership enabled Orygen to launch the trial of the Youth Online Training and Employment Support (YOTES) digital platform in Berry Street schools across Victoria, as well as funding Orygen's Youth IPS Centre of Excellence, which provides support to IPS centres nationwide. Orygen's Director of Employment and Education Partnerships, Gina Chinnery, thanked RACV for their crucial support.

"RACV has allowed us to expand our evidence-based vocational programs in a way that's really gratifying," she said. "Developing and launching initiatives like YOTES and IPS, which assist young people in reaching their career aspirations, is particularly meaningful as we know how much the experience influences their overall wellbeing."





The YOTES digital platform now available to Berry Street students, thanks to RACV.



TAL provides crucial support for Orygen VTAC partnership

The team at life insurance specialist TAL Australia and the TAL Community Foundation has Orygen's collective gratitude for their ongoing support. TAL assists Orygen to grow our evidence-based employment and education programs.

TAL's generosity has enabled Orygen to undertake two research projects to understand issues affecting students as they transition to further education and training, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Orygen is working in partnership with the Victorian Tertiary Admissions Centre (VTAC) to better understand the mental health impact of a range of events on young people completing Year 12 and applying for university.

As part of the project, researchers have examined the approximately 60,000 applications VTAC receives per year, to attend university in Victoria, namely the requests for special consideration under the special entry access scheme (SEAS). This scheme aims to compensate for educational disadvantage that a student may have experienced for a range of reasons including mental ill-health.

Professor Eóin Killackey, Director of Research at Orygen, said the project would open a window into this critical transition point in the lives of young people. "By examining this data, we can see the impact that events like bushfire, drought, regional unemployment, pandemics, and others have on the mental health of Year 12 students as reflected in their SEAS applications," Prof. Killacky said.

"Understanding the impact of mental ill-health on young people as they navigate the transition to further education and training is the first step in developing supports before, during and after, to ensure they have the same opportunity as their peers to pursue their educational and vocational goals.

"The long-term potential for identification and mitigation of mental health risk in Year 12 students through this project is immense and exciting."

The partnership has been ongoing since 2017, with data examined from 2019 onwards. Insights gained from the partnership will allow for more focussed support to be provided to Year 12 students in communities impacted by these kinds of events in the future. It will help more young people make a successful transition from their secondary to post-secondary studies, give them a greater chance of realising their educational and career ambitions, and reduce the likelihood of developing a more persistent or disabling mental illness.



Pioneering philanthropic partner the Colonial Foundation helps Orygen grow through the years

Through its ongoing support, the Colonial Foundation has enabled Orygen to build its organisational capacity and direct funding where it is needed most. After providing seed funding to Orygen in 2001, the Colonial Foundation proceeded to contribute more than \$46 million over the next two decades. This ongoing philanthropic partnership has allowed Orygen to leverage Australian Government support, while also encouraging other philanthropic funders to take a similar approach.

Executive Director Professor Patrick McGorry said the Colonial Foundation has played a crucial role in allowing Orygen to become the globally renowned organisation it is today.

"Our partners at the Colonial Foundation have undoubtedly played a significant part in transforming the landscape of youth mental health care across Australia," Professor McGorry said.

"Orygen would not be the world leader in youth mental health research, knowledge translation and clinical care that we are recognised as today, without their support."

Orygen extends its thanks and appreciation to The Colonial Foundation and looks forward to a sustained prosperous partnership into the future.



William Buckland Foundation

Long-term supporters of Orygen, The William Buckland Foundation recognises that mental wellbeing is a fundamental building block to better outcomes in other areas of life. The Foundation is particularly proud of the work around Orygen's systematic approach to youth suicide prevention.

Since 2017 the Foundation has committed \$1.2m towards suicide prevention and has committed a further \$125,000 to support the rollout of the Mello app through Orygen Digital.

Professor Patrick McGorry said the Foundation's support was fundamental to achieving Orygen's most important research goals.

"We extend our sincere gratitude to the William Buckland Foundation for their unwavering support of Orygen's vital suicide prevention initiatives," he said.

"Investing in suicide prevention for young people is an investment in our future. Early intervention, investing in research, and comprehensive treatments and clinical supports, can all make a lasting impact on the mental wellbeing of our young people."



Our leaders

The Executive Leadership Team

Professor Patrick McGorry AO Executive Director

Professor Mario Alvarez-Jimenez Chief of Orygen Digital

Kerryn Pennell Chief of Strategy and Engagement

Dr Leanne Geppert Chief of Clinical Services and Operations

Chrissy McCallum Chief Financial Officer

Professor Eóin Killacky Chief of Research Professor Andrew Chanen Chief of Clinical Practice

Pamela White Chief of People, Culture and Wellbeing

David Cooper Chief Information Officer

Sarah Muller Chief of Staff to the Executive Director

Professor Rosemary Purcell Chief of Knowledge Translation

The Orygen Board

Sir Edward Byrne AC Kt Mr Andre Carstens Mr Benjamin Lannan Professor Frances Kay-Lambkin Emeritus Professor Helen Herrman AO Ms Penelope Armytage Mr Robert Goudswaard Mr Robert Hadler

Orygen is a public company limited by guarantee with three members: The Colonial Foundation, the University of Melbourne and Melbourne Health.

Orygen's key management personnel are made of staff directly employed by Orygen, the University of Melbourne and Melbourne Health. Secondment arrangements are in place where staff are employed by entities other than Orygen, to conduct Orygen work. Some key management personnel are independently remunerated by The University of Melbourne and Melbourne Health for roles that are adjacent to their responsibilities at Orygen.

In the interests of transparency, Orygen is disclosing the total remuneration paid to Orygen's key management personnel in roles within Orygen, as well as any positions adjacent to their work at Orygen, where they are remunerated by a member company.

RENUMERATION RANGES	No. of KMP
\$500,000 - \$600,000	1
\$300,000 - \$400,000	5
\$200,000 - \$300,000	5
BOARD DIRECTORS	
CHAIRPERSON (\$75,000P.A.)	1
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (\$35,000P.A.)	7

Key Management Personnel renumeration

Note: The above ranges include KMP compensation from the University of Melbourne and Melbourne Health where there is overlap with their role at Orygen.

Financial statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for year ended 30 June 2023

	2023	2022
	\$'000	\$'000
REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES	62,829	52,414
EXPENDITURE		
CONSULTANCY	3,279	1,816
DEPRECIATION	2,246	2,194
OCCUPANCY	3,064	2,712
PERSONNEL COSTS	46,960	37,553
MEDICAL SUPPLIES, TESTS AND PRACTITIONER PAYMENTS*	784	1,117
OTHER EXPENDITURE	9,009	6,113
TOTAL EXPENDITURE	65,342	51,505
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	982	(1,540)
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD	(1,531)	(631)

Sources of revenue (Year ended 30 June 2023)



	-	
COMMONWEALTH GRANTS	7,448	12%
STATE GOVERNMENT GRANTS	25,218	40%
PRIMARY HEALTH CARE INCOME	12,266	19%
COLONIAL FOUNDATION	1,500	2%
INTERNATIONAL GRANTS	3,724	6%
FUNDRAISING AND DONATIONS	1,930	3%
INFRASTRUCTURE AND REIMBURSEMENT INCOME	6,163	10%
CAPITAL GRANTS	166	0%
OTHER	5,396	8%
TOTAL	63,811	100%

\$'000 % of Total

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023

	2023	2022
	\$'000	\$'000
CURRENT ASSETS		
CASH AT BANK	17,455	10,555
TERM DEPOSITS	100	100
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES	6,157	5,234
PREPAYMENTS	685	600
FINANCIAL ASSETS	26,749	26,776
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS	51,146	43,265
NON-CURRENT ASSETS		
PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT	4,041	4,327
RIGHT OF USE ASSETS	4,670	5,132
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS	8,711	9,459
TOTAL ASSETS	59,857	52,724
CURRENT LIABILITIES		
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES	24,790	19,611
	3,250	20
LEASE LIABILITIES	687	571
EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS	2,147	1,927
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES	30,874	22,129
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES		
LEASE LIABILITIES	4,301	4,548
EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS	642	476
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES	4,943	5,024
TOTAL LIABILITIES	35,817	27,153
NET ASSETS	24,040	25,571
EQUITY		
RETAINED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)*	9,745	8,504
OYMHF RESERVE	5,809	5,200
UNEXPENDED FUNDS RESERVE	8,486	11,867
TOTAL EQUITY	24,040	25,571

*Includes project funds received, but committed to expenditure in future financial years.

A full copy of the Orygen Special Purpose Statutory Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2023 is available on the ACNC website, **www.acnc.gov.au**.

Publications

JULY 2022 - June 2023

- Abu-Akel A, Wood SJ, Upthegrove R, Chisholm K, Lin A, Hansen PC, et al. Psychosocial functioning in the balance between autism and psychosis: evidence from three populations. MOLECULAR PSYCHIATRY. 2022 07 Jul;27(7):2976-84. PubMed PMID: WOS:000782542200004. NIHMSID: APR 2022. English.
- Butenko D, Rinaldi M, Brinchmann B, Killackey E, Johnsen E, Mykletun A. Turnover of IPS employment specialists: Rates and predictors. Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation. 2022 07 Jul;57(1):23-32.
- Cavelti M, Thompson K, Betts J, Fowler C, Luebbers S, Cottton SM, et al. Young People With Borderline Personality Disorder Have an Increased Lifetime Risk of Being the Victim of Interpersonal Violence. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2022 07 Jul;37(13-14):NP10642-NP60.
- Cotton S, Filia K, Watson A, Mackinnon AJ, Hides L, Gleeson JFM, et al. A protocol for the first episode psychosis outcome study (FEPOS): >= 15 year followup after treatment at the Early Psychosis Prevention and Intervention Centre, Melbourne, Australia. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 07 Jul;16(7):715-23. PubMed PMID: WOS:000686567900001. NIHMSID: AUG 2021. English.
- Cotton SM, Hamilton MP, Filia K, Menssink JM, Engel L, Mihalopoulos C, et al. Heterogeneity of quality of life in young people attending primary mental health services. Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences. 2022 07 Jul;31:e55. PubMed PMID: 35856272. PMCID: PMC9305730. Epub 2022/07/21.
- Croft J, Teufel C, Heron J, Fletcher PC, David AS, Lewis G, et al. A Computational Analysis of Abnormal Belief Updating Processes and Their Association With Psychotic Experiences and Childhood Trauma in a UK Birth Cohort. Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging. 2022 07 Jul;7(7):725-34. PubMed PMID: 34954139. PMCID: PMC9259502. Epub 2021/12/27.
- Dunleavy C, Elsworthy RJ, Upthegrove R, Wood SJ, Aldred S. Inflammation in first-episode psychosis: The contribution of inflammatory biomarkers to the emergence of negative symptoms, a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2022 07 Jul;146(1):6-20.
- Dwyer DB, Buciuman MO, Ruef A, Kambeitz J, Sen Dong M, Stinson C, et al. Clinical, Brain, and Multilevel Clustering in Early Psychosis and Affective Stages. JAMA Psychiatry. 2022 07 Jul;79(7):677-89.
- Ennals P, Lessing K, Spies R, Egan R, Hemus P, Droppert K, et al. Co-producing to understand what matters to young people living in youth residential rehabilitation services. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 07 Jul;16(7):782-91.
- Hamilton C, Filia K, Lloyd S, Prober S, Duncan E. 'More than just numbers on a page?' A qualitative exploration of the use of data collection and feedback in youth mental health services. PLoS ONE. 2022 07 Jul;17(7 July).
- Haney M, Bedi G, Cooper ZD, Herrmann ES, Reed SC, Foltin RW, et al. Impact of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition on cannabis withdrawal and circulating endocannabinoids in daily cannabis smokers. Addiction Biology. 2022 07 Jul;27(4).

- Jenkins CA, Tiley LCF, Lay I, Hartmann JA, Chan JKM, Nicholas CL. Comparing GENEActiv against Actiwatch-2 over Seven Nights Using a Common Sleep Scoring Algorithm and Device-Specific Wake Thresholds. Behavioral Sleep Medicine. 2022 07 Jul;20(4):369-79.
- Kealy D, Treeby MS, Rice SM, Spidel A. Shame and guilt as mediators between dispositional optimism and symptom severity among mental health outpatients. Psychology, Health and Medicine. 2022 07 Jul;27(6):1245-54.
- Killackey E. Why is the educational attainment of people with schizophrenia lagging so far behind? The Lancet Psychiatry. 2022 07 Jul;9(7):528-9.
- Pilkington V, Rice SM, Walton CC, Gwyther K, Olive L, Butterworth M, et al. Prevalence and Correlates of Mental Health Symptoms and Well-Being Among Elite Sport Coaches and High-Performance Support Staff. Sports Med - Open. 2022 07 Jul;8(1).
- 16. Rice SM, Easton SD, Seidler ZE, Oliffe JL. Sexual abuse and mental ill health in boys and men: what we do and don't know. BJPsych Open. 2022 07 Jul;8(4).
- Sarris J, Ravindran A, Yatham LN, Marx W, Rucklidge JJ, McIntyre RS, et al. Clinician guidelines for the treatment of psychiatric disorders with nutraceuticals and phytoceuticals: The World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) and Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) Taskforce. World Journal of Biological Psychiatry. 2022 07 Jul;23(6):424-55.
- Seidler ZE, Wilson MJ, Toogood NW, Oliffe JL, Kealy D, Ogrodniczuk JS, et al. Protocol for a randomized controlled trial of the Men in Mind training for mental health practitioners to enhance their clinical competencies for working with male clients. BMC Psychology. 2022 07 Jul;10(1).
- Trail K, Baptiste PJ, Hunt T, Brooks A. Conducting Research in Crisis Helpline Settings: Common Challenges and Proposed Solutions. Crisis. 2022 07 Jul;43(4):263-9.
- Trail K, Wilson MJ, Rice SM, Hunt T, Pirkis J, Seidler ZE. "I Called When I Was at My Lowest": Australian Men's Experiences of Crisis Helplines. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2022 07 Jul;19(15).
- Truong TTT, Bortolasci CC, Kidnapillai S, Spolding B, Panizzutti B, Liu ZSJ, et al. Integrative Analyses of Transcriptomes to Explore Common Molecular Effects of Antipsychotic Drugs. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2022 07 Jul;23(14).
- Williams LJ, Stuart AL, Berk M, Brennan-Olsen SL, Hodge JM, Quirk SE, et al. Bipolar disorder and bone health: A case-control study. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2022 07 Jul;308:39-43.
- Crossin R, Cleland L, Beautrais A, Witt K, Boden JM. Acute alcohol use and suicide deaths: an analysis of New Zealand coronial data from 2007-2020. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2022 07 Jul 135(1558):65-78. PubMed PMID: 35834835. Epub 2022/07/15.
- Baldwin H, Radua J, Antoniades M, Haas SS, Frangou S, Agartz I, et al. Neuroanatomical heterogeneity and homogeneity in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis. TRANSLATIONAL PSYCHIATRY. 2022 07 Jul 12(1). PubMed PMID: WOS:000830710300002. English.

- Basu A, Boland A, Witt K, Robinson J. Suicidal Behaviour, including Ideation and Self-Harm, in Young Migrants: A Systematic Review. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH AND PUBLIC HEALTH. 2022 07 Jul 19(14). PubMed PMID: WOS:000832218700001. English.
- 26. Brinchmann B, Rinaldi M, Sandtorv E, Moe CF, McDaid D, Killackey E, et al. Are attitudes in employees of public employment service in line with the principles of individual placement and support? A questionnaire-based survey. SOCIAL POLICY & ADMINISTRATION. 2022 07 Jul 56(4):681-92. PubMed PMID: WOS:000810346400011. English.
- Dash S, Bourke M, Parker AG, Dadswell K, Pascoe MC. Lifestyle behaviours and mental health and wellbeing of tertiary students during COVID-19 lockdown in Australia: A cross-sectional study. COMPREHENSIVE PSYCHIATRY. 2022 07 Jul 116. PubMed PMID: WOS:000806488400005. English.
- Freak-Poli R, Ryan J, Tran T, Owen A, Power JM, Berk M, et al. Social isolation, social support and loneliness as independent concepts, and their relationship with health-related quality of life among older women. AGING & MENTAL HEALTH. 2022 07 Jul 26(7):1335-44. PubMed PMID: WOS:000669804700001. NIHMSID: JUN 2021. English.
- 29. Luna LP, Radua J, Fortea L, Sugranyes G, Fortea A, Fusar-Poli P, et al. A systematic review and metaanalysis of structural and functional brain alterations in individuals with genetic and clinical high-risk for psychosis and bipolar disorder. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2022 07 Jul 117. PubMed PMID: WOS:000805635900001. English.
- O'Donoghue B, Collett H, Boyd S, Zhou YN, Castagnini E, Brown E, et al. The incidence and admission rate for first-episode psychosis in young people before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in Melbourne, Australia. AUSTRALIAN AND NEW ZEALAND JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRY. 2022 07 Jul 56(7):811-7. PubMed PMID: WOS:000708611900001. NIHMSID: OCT 2021. English.
- Pandi-Perumal SR, Zaki NFW, Qasim M, Morsy NE, Manzar MD, BaHammam AS, et al. Neuropsychiatric Consequences of COVID-19 Pandemic: A Synthetic Review from a Global Perspective. ALPHA PSYCHIATRY. 2022 07 Jul 23(4):144-54. PubMed PMID: WOS:000826658600001. English.
- Ritunnano R. Overcoming Hermeneutical Injustice in Mental Health: A Role for Critical Phenomenology. JOURNAL OF THE BRITISH SOCIETY FOR PHENOMENOLOGY. 2022 07 Jul 53(3):243-60. PubMed PMID: WOS:000750142800001. NIHMSID: FEB 2022. English.
- 33. Schirmbeck F, van der Ven E, Boyette LL, McGuire P, Valmaggia LR, Kempton MJ, et al. Differential trajectories of tobacco smoking in people at ultrahigh risk for psychosis: Associations with clinical outcomes. FRONTIERS IN PSYCHIATRY. 2022 07 Jul 13. PubMed PMID: WOS:000837122900001. English.
- 34. Susai SR, Mongan D, Healy C, Cannon M, Cagney G, Wynne K, et al. Machine learning based prediction and the influence of complement - Coagulation pathway proteins on clinical outcome: Results from the NEURAPRO trial. BRAIN BEHAVIOR AND IMMUNITY. 2022 07 Jul 103:50–60. PubMed PMID: WOS:000796192600007. English.
- 35. Walton CC, Rice S, Purcell R. More to be Done in Supporting Athlete Mental Health and Sleep. MEDICINE & SCIENCE IN SPORTS & EXERCISE. 2022 07 Jul 54(7):1225-. PubMed PMID: WOS:000811055000022. English.

- 36. Armoon B, Griffiths MD, Bayani A, Mohammadi R, Ahounbar E. Prevalence and associates of nonfatal overdose among people who inject drugs in Saveh, Iran. ADDICTION SCIENCE & CLINICAL PRACTICE. 2022 08 Aug;17(1). PubMed PMID: WOS:000836221200001. English.
- Baker D, Fisher K, Hamilton M, Rice S, Purcell R. Providing a pathway to community-based psychosocial or mental health support services for young people following initial encounters with police: a scoping review. Current Issues in Criminal Justice. 2022 08 Aug;34(4):360-82.
- Beneria A, Santesteban-Echarri O, Daigre C, Tremain H, Ramos-Quiroga JA, McGorry PD, et al. Online interventions for cannabis use among adolescents and young adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 08 Aug;16(8):821-44. PubMed PMID: WOS:000693252800001. NIHMSID: AUG 2021. English.
- Berger M, Amminger GP, McGregor IS. Medicinal cannabis for the treatment of anxiety disorders. AUSTRALIAN JOURNAL OF GENERAL PRACTICE. 2022 08 Aug;51(8):586-92. PubMed PMID: WOS:000836145400009. English.
- Berger M, Li E, Rice S, Davey CG, Ratheesh A, Adams S, et al. Cannabidiol for Treatment-Resistant Anxiety Disorders in Young People: An Open-Label Trial. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2022 08 Aug;83(5).
- 41. Gates J, Goldstone E, Clemente J, Cugnetto M, Morris EMJ, Farhall J. Adapting and implementing Acceptance and Commitment Therapy groups to support personal recovery of adults living with psychosis: a qualitative study of facilitators' experiences. Psychosis. 2022 08 Aug;14(4):322-32.
- Gossage L, Narayanan A, Dipnall JF, Iusitini L, Sumich A, Berk M, et al. Risk factors for depression in Pacific adolescents in New Zealand: A network analysis. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2022 08 Aug;311:373-82.
- Hansen JY, Shafiei G, Vogel JW, Smart K, Bearden CE, Hoogman M, et al. Local molecular and global connectomic contributions to cross-disorder cortical abnormalities. NATURE COMMUNICATIONS. 2022 08 Aug;13(1). PubMed PMID: WOS:000838655300005. English.
- Hasebe K, Mohebbi M, Gray L, Walker AJ, Bortolasci CC, Turner A, et al. Exploring interleukin-6, lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and brainderived neurotrophic factor following 12 weeks of adjunctive minocycline treatment for depression. ACTA NEUROPSYCHIATRICA. 2022 08 Aug;34(4):220-7. PubMed PMID: WOS:000743354900001. NIHMSID: DEC 2021. English.
- 45. Herreen D, Rice S, Ward L, Zajac I. Extending the Male Depression Risk Scale for use with older men: the effect of age on factor structure and associations with psychological distress and history of depression. Aging and Mental Health. 2022 08 Aug;26(8):1524–32.
- 46. Howell TJ, Nieforth L, Thomas-Pino C, Samet L, Agbonika S, Cuevas-Pavincich F, et al. Defining Terms Used for Animals Working in Support Roles for People with Support Needs. Animals. 2022 08 Aug;12(15).
- Ko KY, Ridley N, Bryce SD, Allott K, Smith A, Kamminga J. Screening Tools for Cognitive Impairment in Adults with Substance Use Disorders: A Systematic Review. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society. 2022 08 Aug;28(7):756-79.
- McGorry PD. Social and occupational outcomes for young people who attend early intervention mental health services: a longitudinal study. MEDICAL JOURNAL OF AUSTRALIA. 2022 08 Aug;217(4):219-. PubMed PMID: WOS:000826178700001. NIHMSID: JUL 2022. English.

- McInnis MG, Andreassen OA, Andreazza AC, Alon U, Berk M, Brister T, et al. Strategies and foundations for scientific discovery in longitudinal studies of bipolar disorder. BIPOLAR DISORDERS. 2022 08 Aug;24(5):499-508. PubMed PMID: WOS:000770220600001. NIHMSID: MAR 2022. English.
- Mitchell BL, Campos AI, Whiteman DC, Olsen CM, Gordon SD, Walker AJ, et al. The Australian Genetics of Depression Study: New Risk Loci and Dissecting Heterogeneity Between Subtypes. Biological Psychiatry. 2022 08 Aug;92(3):227-35.
- Moeti M, Gao GF, Herrman H. Global pandemic perspectives: public health, mental health, and lessons for the future. The Lancet. 2022 08 Aug;400(10353):e3-e7.
- 52. O'Gorman KM, Wilson MJ, Seidler ZE, English D, Zajac IT, Fisher KS, et al. Male-Type Depression Mediates the Relationship between Avoidant Coping and Suicidal Ideation in Men. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2022 08 Aug;19(17).
- Oliffe JL, Kelly MT, Montaner GG, Seidler ZE, Kealy D, Ogrodniczuk JS, et al. Mapping Men's Mental Health Help-Seeking After an Intimate Partner Relationship Break-Up. Qual Health Res. 2022 08 Aug;32(10):1464-76. PubMed PMID: WOS:000817128600001. NIHMSID: JUN 2022. English.
- 54. Park AL, Rinaldi M, Brinchmann B, Killackey E, Aars NAP, Mykletun A, et al. Economic analyses of supported employment programmes for people with mental health conditions: A systematic review. European Psychiatry. 2022 08 Aug;65(1).
- 55. Paschou P, Jin Y, Muller-Vahl K, Moller HE, Rizzo R, Hoekstra PJ, et al. Enhancing neuroimaging genetics through meta-analysis for Tourette syndrome (ENIGMA-TS): A worldwide platform for collaboration. FRONTIERS IN PSYCHIATRY. 2022 08 Aug;13. PubMed PMID: WOS:000850005200001. English.
- 56. Pascoe MC, Dash S, Pogrmilovic BK, Patten RK, Parker AG. The engagement of tertiary students with an online mental health intervention during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: A feasibility study. Digit Health. 2022 08 Aug;8. PubMed PMID: WOS:000850896200001. English.
- Patel Y, Shin J, Abe C, Agartz I, Alloza C, Alnaes D, et al. Virtual Ontogeny of Cortical Growth Preceding Mental Illness. BIOLOGICAL PSYCHIATRY. 2022 08 Aug;92(4):299-313. PubMed PMID: WOS:000884338900008. English.
- 58. Pavlova A, Scarth B, Witt K, Hetrick S, Fortune S. COVID-19 related innovation in Aotearoa/New Zealand mental health helplines and telehealth providers - mapping solutions and discussing sustainability from the perspective of service providers. FRONTIERS IN PSYCHIATRY. 2022 08 Aug;13. PubMed PMID: WOS:000871583000001. English.
- Sommer IEC, Horowitz M, Allott K, Speyer H, Begemann MJH. Antipsychotic maintenance treatment versus dose reduction: how the story continues. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2022 08 Aug;9(8):602–3.
- 60. Ward B, Moller C, Maybery D, Weimand B, Krause M, Dietze P, et al. Interventions to support parents who use methamphetamine: A narrative systematic review. Children and Youth Services Review. 2022 08 Aug;139.
- 61. Wilson MJ. Cultivating positive masculinity is mental health promotion for boys and men. HEALTH PROMOTION INTERNATIONAL. 2022 08 Aug;37(4). PubMed PMID: WOS:000848315200002. English.
- 62. Broughan J, McCombe G, Lim J, O'Keeffe D, Brown K, Clarke M, et al. Keyworker mediated enhancement of physical health in patients with first episode psychosis: A feasibility/acceptability study. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 08 Aug 16(8):883-90. PubMed PMID: WOS:000712781300001. NIHMSID: OCT 2021. English.

- 63. Gonzalez-Blanch C, Gleeson JF, McEnery C, O'Sullivan S, Ayesa-Arriola R, D'Alfonso S, et al. The impact of persistent social anxiety on social functioning and health-related quality of life in young people with remitted first-episode psychosis. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 08 Aug 16(8):868-74. PubMed PMID: WOS:000712748800001. NIHMSID: OCT 2021. English.
- 64. Moller CI, Davey CG, Badcock PB, Wrobel AL, Cao AL, Murrihy S, et al. Correlates of suicidality in young people with depressive disorders: A systematic review. AUSTRALIAN AND NEW ZEALAND JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRY. 2022 08 Aug 56(8):910-48. PubMed PMID: WOS:000777603200001. NIHMSID: APR 2022. English.
- 65. Angeler DG, Eyre HA, Berk M, Allen CR, Hynes W, Linkov I. Adaptation, Transformation and Resilience in Healthcare Comment on "Government Actions and Their Relation to Resilience in Healthcare During the COVID-19 Pandemic in New South Wales, Australia and Ontario, Canada". International Journal of Health Policy and Management. 2022 09 Sep;11(9):1949-52.
- Bailey AP, Castellano G, Aleman A. Exercise for the treatment of anxiety in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2022 09 Sep;2022(9).
- 67. Binnewies J, Nawijn L, Brandmaier AM, Baare WFC, Bartres-Faz D, Drevon CA, et al. Associations of depression and regional brain structure across the adult lifespan: Pooled analyses of six population-based and two clinical cohort studies in the European Lifebrain consortium. NeuroImage-Clin. 2022 09 Sep;36. PubMed PMID: WOS:000863120700006. English.
- Dash S, Bourke M, Parker AG, Trott E, Pascoe MC. Mindfulness is associated with reduced barriers to exercise via decreasing psychological distress in help-seeking young adults: A cross-sectional brief report. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 09 Sep;16(9):1049-54.
- Dax V, Ftanou M, Tran B, Lewin J, Wallace R, Seidler Z, et al. The impact of testicular cancer and its treatment on masculinity: A systematic review. Psycho-Oncology. 2022 09 Sep;31(9):1459-73.
- Easpaig BNG, Zhai J, Gray R, Brown E, Bressington D. Recruitment, attrition and intervention completion in clinical trials of psychosocial interventions involving people with early and emerging psychosis: a systematic review protocol. BMJ Open. 2022 09 Sep;12(9).
- Ferrari M, Allan S, Arnold C, Eleftheriadis D, Alvarez-Jimenez M, Gumley A, et al. Digital Interventions for Psychological Well-being in University Students: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Journal of Medical Internet Research. 2022 09 Sep;24(9).
- 72. Fountoulakis KN, Karakatsoulis GN, Abraham S, Adorjan K, Ahmed HU, Alarcón RD, et al. The effect of different degrees of lockdown and self-identified gender on anxiety, depression and suicidality during the COVID-19 pandemic: Data from the international COMET-G study. Psychiatry Research. 2022 09 Sep;315.
- Gossage L, Narayanan A, Dipnall JF, Iusitini L, Sumich A, Berk M, et al. Corrigendum to "Risk factors for depression in Pacific adolescents in New Zealand: A network analysis" [J. Affect. Disord. 311 (2022) 373-382 (15 August), (Journal of Affective Disorders (2022) 311(373-382) (S0165032722005900), (10.1016/j. jad.2022.05.076)). Journal of Affective Disorders. 2022 09 Sep;315:297.
- 74. Gustad LT, Holand AM, Hynnekleiv T, Bjerkeset O, Berk M, Romundstad S. The bidirectional association between depressive symptoms, assessed by the HADS, and albuminuria-A longitudinal populationbased cohort study with repeated measures from the HUNT2 and HUNT3 Study. PLoS ONE. 2022 09 Sep;17(9 September).

- 75. Haas SS, Doucet GE, Antoniades M, Modabbernia A, Corcoran CM, Kahn RS, et al. Evidence of discontinuity between psychosis-risk and nonclinical samples in the neuroanatomical correlates of social function. Schizophrenia Research: Cognition. 2022 09 Sep;29.
- Olive LS, Rice SM, Gao C, Pilkington V, Walton CC, Butterworth M, et al. Risk and protective factors for mental ill-health in elite para- and non-para athletes. Frontiers in Psychology. 2022 09 Sep;13.
- 77. Rice S, Seidler Z, Kealy D, Ogrodniczuk J, Zajac I, Oliffe J. Men's Depression, Externalizing, and DSM-5-TR: Primary Signs and Symptoms or Co-occurring Symptoms? Harvard Review of Psychiatry. 2022 09 Sep;30(5):317-22.
- Teixeira AL, Martins LB, Berk M, Bauer ME. Severe psychiatric disorders and general medical comorbidities: inflammation-related mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. Clinical Science. 2022 09 Sep;136(17):1257-80.
- 79. Toenders YJ, Schmaal L, Nawijn L, Han LKM, Binnewies J, van der Wee NJA, et al. The association between clinical and biological characteristics of depression and structural brain alterations. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2022 09 Sep;312:268-74.
- von Hardenberg L, Leopold K, Stenzel N, Kallenbach M, Aliakbari N, Bechdolf A, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of an acceptance and mindfulnessbased group intervention for young people with early psychosis (Feel-Good group). Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2022 09 Sep;13.
- Wannan CMJ, Bartholomeusz CF, Pantelis C, Di Biase MA, Syeda WT, Chakravarty MM, et al. Disruptions in white matter microstructure associated with impaired visual associative memory in schizophrenia-spectrum illness. European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience. 2022 09 Sep;272(6):971-83.
- Angeler DG, Eyre HA, Berk M. Listening to the silent struggles of bipolar disorder through sonification of iMoodJournal data. BIPOLAR DISORDERS.
 2022 09 Sep 24(6):689-92. PubMed PMID: WOS:000799004800001. NIHMSID: MAY 2022. English.
- Bauer M, Glenn T, Achtyes ED, Alda M, Agaoglu E, Altinbas K, et al. Association between polarity of first episode and solar insolation in bipolar I disorder. JOURNAL OF PSYCHOSOMATIC RESEARCH. 2022 09 Sep 160. PubMed PMID: WOS:000850543400002. English.
- Chand GB, Singhal P, Dwyer DB, Wen JH, Erus G, Doshi J, et al. Schizophrenia Imaging Signatures and Their Associations With Cognition, Psychopathology, and Genetics in the General Population. AMERICAN JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRY. 2022 09 Sep 179(9):650-60. PubMed PMID: WOS:000878127800013. English.
- 85. Cheng N, McLaverty A, Nelson B, Markulev C, Schafer MR, Berger M, et al. Effects of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation on cognitive functioning in youth at ultrahigh risk for psychosis: secondary analysis of the NEURAPRO randomised controlled trial. BJPSYCH OPEN. 2022 09 Sep 8(5). PubMed PMID: WOS:000850860800001. English.
- Cotton SM, Betts JK, Eleftheriadis D, Filia K, Seigerman M, Rayner VK, et al. A comparison of experiences of care and expressed emotion among caregivers of young people with firstepisode psychosis or borderline personality disorder features. AUSTRALIAN AND NEW ZEALAND JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRY. 2022 09 Sep 56(9):1142-54. PubMed PMID: WOS:000708023500001. NIHMSID: OCT 2021. English.

- Dikec G, Brown E, Bressington D, Thompson A, Gray R. The Safety and Efficacy of Psychosocial Adherence Interventions in Young People with Early Psychosis: A Systematic Review. HEALTHCARE. 2022 09 Sep 10(9). PubMed PMID: WOS:000858243000001. English.
- Flood L, Mintzes B, Chiu K, Dai ZL, Karanges EA, Holman B. Australian Clinical Trial Authors' Declarations of Industry Ties. JOURNAL OF GENERAL INTERNAL MEDICINE. 2022 09 Sep 37(12):3196-8. PubMed PMID: WOS:000765655800001. NIHMSID: MAR 2022. English.
- Kambeitz-Ilankovic L, Rzayeva U, Volkel L, Wenzel J, Weiske J, Jessen F, et al. A systematic review of digital and face-to-face cognitive behavioral therapy for depression. NPJ DIGITAL MEDICINE. 2022 09 Sep 5(1). PubMed PMID: WOS:000854756700001. English.
- Koutsouleris N, Pantelis C, Velakoulis D, McGuire P, Dwyer DB, Urquijo-Castro MF, et al. Exploring Links Between Psychosis and Frontotemporal Dementia Using Multimodal Machine Learning Dementia Praecox Revisited. JAMA PSYCHIATRY. 2022 09 Sep 79(9):907-19. PubMed PMID: WOS:000836399700004. NIHMSID: AUG 2022. English.
- McDowell C, Fossey E, Harvey C. Moving clients forward: a grounded theory of disability employment specialists' views and practices. DISABILITY AND REHABILITATION. 2022 09 Sep 44(19):5504-12. PubMed PMID: WOS:000668467100001. NIHMSID: AUG 2021. English.
- McIver S, O'Shea M, Nixon B, Seidler Z, Evans S. "The only man on the mat": yoga as a therapeutic pathway for men's mental health. AUSTRALIAN PSYCHOLOGIST. 2022 09 Sep 57(5):271-9. PubMed PMID: WOS:000819531600001. NIHMSID: JUL 2022. English.
- Meinhardt I, Cargo T, Maro B, Bowden L, Fortune S, Cuthbert S, et al. Development of guidelines for school staff on supporting students who self-harm: a Delphi study. BMC PSYCHIATRY. 2022 09 Sep 22(1). PubMed PMID: WOS:000861877300002. English.
- 94. O'Gorman KM, Wilson MJ, Seidler ZE, English D, Zajac IT, Fisher KS, et al. Male-Type Depression Mediates the Relationship between Avoidant Coping and Suicidal Ideation in Men. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH AND PUBLIC HEALTH. 2022 09 Sep 19(17). PubMed PMID: WOS:000852830200001. English.
- 95. Park BY, Kebets V, Lariviere S, Hettwer MD, Paquola C, van Rooij D, et al. Multiscale neural gradients reflect transdiagnostic effects of major psychiatric conditions on cortical morphology. COMMUNICATIONS BIOLOGY. 2022 09 Sep 5(1). PubMed PMID: WOS:000860702800005. English.
- 96. Pionke-Ubych R, Frydecka D, Cechnicki A, Krezolek M, Nelson B, Gaweda L. Integrating trauma, selfdisturbances, cognitive biases, and personality into a model for the risk of psychosis: a longitudinal study in a non-clinical sample. EUROPEAN ARCHIVES OF PSYCHIATRY AND CLINICAL NEUROSCIENCE. 2022 09 Sep 272(6):1073-85. PubMed PMID: WOS:000725423200001. NIHMSID: DEC 2021. English.
- Schmaal L. The Search for Clinically Useful Neuroimaging Markers of Depression-A Worthwhile Pursuit or a Futile Quest? JAMA PSYCHIATRY. 2022 09 Sep 79(9):845-6. PubMed PMID: WOS:000832645100004. NIHMSID: JUL 2022. English.
- Stuart AL, Pasco JA, Berk M, Quirk SE, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Honkanen R, et al. Falls in communitydwelling women with bipolar disorder: a casecontrol study. BMC PSYCHIATRY. 2022 09 Sep 22(1). PubMed PMID: WOS:000855768000001. English.

- Vaernes TG, Rossberg JI, Melle I, Nelson B, Romm KL, Moller P. Basic self-disturbance trajectories in clinical high risk for psychosis: a one-year follow-up study. EUROPEAN ARCHIVES OF PSYCHIATRY AND CLINICAL NEUROSCIENCE. 2022 09 Sep 272(6):1007-19. PubMed PMID: WOS:000719162900001. NIHMSID: NOV 2021. English.
- 100. Bayer JMM, Thompson PM, Ching CRK, Liu MT, Chen A, Panzenhagen AC, et al. Site effects how-to and when: An overview of retrospective techniques to accommodate site effects in multi-site neuroimaging analyses. FRONTIERS IN NEUROLOGY. 2022 10 Oct;13. PubMed PMID: WOS:000885114400001. English.
- 101. Cheng N, Lin A, Bowden S, Gao C, Yung AR, Nelson B, et al. Intelligence trajectories in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis: An 8-year longitudinal analysis. Schizophrenia Research. 2022 10 Oct;248:140-8.
- 102. Hartmann JA, Nelson B, Amminger GP, Spark J, Yuen HP, Kerr MJ, et al. Baseline data of a sequential multiple assignment randomized trial (STEP study). Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 10 Oct;16(10):1130-42.
- 103. Herreen D, Rice S, Zajac I. Psychological inflexibility mediates the relationship between conformity to masculine norms and depression: Preliminary support for a transdiagnostic approach to working therapeutically with men. Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science. 2022 10 Oct;26:210-6.
- 104. Lalousis PA, Schmaal L, Wood SJ, Reniers RLEP, Barnes NM, Chisholm K, et al. Neurobiologically Based Stratification of Recent-Onset Depression and Psychosis: Identification of Two Distinct Transdiagnostic Phenotypes. Biological Psychiatry. 2022 10 Oct;92(7):552-62.
- 105. Rosen M, Betz LT, Kaiser N, Penzel N, Dwyer D, Lichtenstein TK, et al. Detailed clinical phenotyping and generalisability in prognostic models of functioning in at-risk populations. British Journal of Psychiatry. 2022 10 Oct;220(6):318-21.
- 106. Sarris J, Byrne GJ, Oliver G, Cribb L, Blair-West S, Castle D, et al. Treatment of refractory obsessivecompulsive disorder with nutraceuticals (TRON): a 20-week, open label pilot study. CNS Spectrums. 2022 10 Oct;27(5):588-97.
- 107. Siebert S, Leopold K, Baumgardt J, von Hardenberg LS, Burkhardt E, Bechdolf A. Specialized inpatient treatment for young people with early psychosis: acute-treatment and 12-month results. European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience. 2022 10 Oct;272(7):1-14.
- 108. Whittle S, Pozzi E, Rakesh D, Kim JM, Yap MBH, Schwartz OS, et al. Harsh and Inconsistent Parental Discipline Is Associated With Altered Cortical Development in Children. Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging. 2022 10 Oct;7(10):989-97.
- 109. Baker D, Rice S, Purcell R. The case for a diversion option to trauma-informed community-based primary mental health services for young people following early encounters with police. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 10 Oct 16(10):1163-7. PubMed PMID: WOS:000728751500001. NIHMSID: DEC 2021. English.
- 110. Baker D, Rice S, Purcell R. Reforming psychosocial and mental health pathways for young people following initial encounters with police. CRIMINAL BEHAVIOUR AND MENTAL HEALTH. 2022 10 Oct 32(5):303-7. PubMed PMID: WOS:000865953100001. English.
- Bowman S, McKinstry C, Howie L, Hepworth G, McGorry P. Perceptions of rural high school teachers

 on the frontline of youth suicide. AUSTRALIAN JOURNAL OF RURAL HEALTH. 2022 10 Oct 30(5):608-18. PubMed PMID: WOS:000818240400001. NIHMSID: JUN 2022. English.

- 112. Brown E, Gao CX, Staveley H, Williams G, Farrelly S, Rickwood D, et al. The clinical and functional outcomes of a large naturalistic cohort of young people accessing national early psychosis services. AUSTRALIAN AND NEW ZEALAND JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRY. 2022 10 Oct 56(10):1265-76. PubMed PMID: WOS:000726669300001. NIHMSID: NOV 2021. English.
- 113. Daglas-Georgiou R, Bryce S, Smith G, Kaur M, Cheng NI, De Rozario M, et al. Treatments for objective and subjective cognitive functioning in young people with depression: Systematic review of current evidence. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 10 Oct 16(10):1057-74. PubMed PMID: WOS:000722371800001. NIHMSID: NOV 2021. English.
- 114. Gossage L, Narayanan A, Dipnall JF, Iusitini L, Sumich A, Berk M, et al. Risk factors for depression in Pacific adolescents in New Zealand: A network analysis (vol 311, pg 373, 2022). JOURNAL OF AFFECTIVE DISORDERS. 2022 10 Oct 315:297-. PubMed PMID: WOS:000848145600035. English.
- 115. Lo Buglio G, Pontillo M, Cerasti E, Polari A, Lomoriello AS, Vicari S, et al. A network analysis of anxiety, depressive, and psychotic symptoms and functioning in children and adolescents at clinical high risk for psychosis. FRONTIERS IN PSYCHIATRY. 2022 10 Oct 13. PubMed PMID: WOS:000883845500001. English.
- 116. McIntyre RS, Aida M, Baldessarini RJ, Bauer M, Berk M, Correll CU, et al. The clinical characterization of the adult patient with bipolar disorder aimed at personalization of management. WORLD PSYCHIATRY. 2022 10 Oct 21(3):364-87. PubMed PMID: WOS:000850880700004. English.
- 117. Meinhardt I, Cuthbert S, Gibson K, Fortune S, Hetrick SE. Young people and adult stakeholders' reflections on how school staff should support students who self-harm: A qualitative study. JOURNAL OF ADOLESCENCE. 2022 10 Oct 94(7):969-80. PubMed PMID: WOS:000829782200001. NIHMSID: JUL 2022. English.
- 118. O'Donoghue B, Mifsud N, Castagnini E, Langstone A, Thompson A, Killackey E, et al. A single-blind, randomised controlled trial of a physical health nurse intervention to prevent weight gain and metabolic complications in first-episode psychosis: the Physical Health Assistance in Early Psychosis (PHAstER) study. BJPSYCH OPEN. 2022 10 Oct 8(6). PubMed PMID: WOS:00086940090001. English.
- 119. Susai SR, Healy C, Mongan D, Heurich M, Byrne JF, Cannon M, et al. Evidence that complement and coagulation proteins are mediating the clinical response to omega-3 fatty acids: A mass spectrometry-based investigation in subjects at clinical high-risk for psychosis. TRANSLATIONAL PSYCHIATRY. 2022 10 Oct 12(1). PubMed PMID: WOS:000876274300002. English.
- 120. Walsh L, Hyett N, Hewson D, Howley J, Juniper N, Li C, et al. Social Media For Consumer Engagement: Co-Creating Guidance for Hospitals, Service Providers and Consumers. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF QUALITATIVE METHODS. 2022 10 Oct 21. PubMed PMID: WOS:000865793700001. English.
- 121. Burdick KE, Millett CE, Yocum AK, Altimus CM, Andreassen OA, Aubin V, et al. Predictors of functional impairment in bipolar disorder: Results from 13 cohorts from seven countries by the global bipolar cohort collaborative. Bipolar Disorders. 2022 11 Nov;24(7):709-19.
- 122. Griffiths SL, Lalousis PA, Wood SJ, Upthegrove R. Heterogeneity in treatment outcomes and incomplete recovery in first episode psychosis: does one size fit all? Translational Psychiatry. 2022 11 Nov;12(1).

- 123. Gustad LT, Myklebust TÅ, Bjerkeset O, Williams LJ, Laugsand LE, Dalen H, et al. Anxiety and depression symptoms, albuminuria and risk of acute myocardial infarction in the Norwegian HUNT cohort study. BMC Cardiovascular Disorders. 2022 11 Nov;22(1).
- 124. McKay S, Lannegrand L, Skues J, Wise L. International experience and cultural intelligence development: A longitudinal assessment of Australian and French exchange students. International Journal of Intercultural Relations. 2022 11 Nov;91:56-69.
- 125. Neill E, Rossell SL, Yolland C, Meyer D, Galletly C, Harris A, et al. N-Acetylcysteine (NAC) in Schizophrenia Resistant to Clozapine: A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial Targeting Negative Symptoms. Schizophrenia bulletin. 2022 11 Nov;48(6):1263-72.
- 126. Nguyen D, Kleeman NJ, Yager Z, Parker AG, Shean MB, Jefferies W, et al. Identifying barriers and facilitators to implementing mindfulness-based programmes into schools: A mixed methods study. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. 2022 11 Nov;14(4):1172-88.
- 127. Peters W, Rice S, Alvarez-Jimenez M, Hetrick SE, Halpin E, Kamitsis I, et al. Relative efficacy of psychological interventions following interpersonal trauma on anxiety, depression, substance use, and PTSD symptoms in young people: A metaanalysis. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 11 Nov;16(11):1175-84.
- 128. Somaiya J, Thompson A, O'Donoghue B, Brown E. Delivery of an online psychosocial recovery program during COVID-19: A survey of young people attending a youth mental health service. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2022 11 Nov;16(11):1259-66.
- 129. Storey QK, Kealy D, Seidler ZE, Oliffe JL, Rice SM, Ogrodniczuk JS. Connecting and Healing: The Role of Existential Isolation in Mediating the Impact of the Therapeutic Relationship on Canadian Men's Mental Health Outcomes. American journal of men's health. 2022 11 Nov;16(6).
- 130. Takahashi T, Sasabayashi D, Velakoulis D, Suzuki M, McGorry PD, Pantelis C, et al. Heschl's gyrus duplication pattern and clinical characteristics in borderline personality disorder: A preliminary study. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2022 11 Nov;13.
- 131. Vaidya S, Guerin AA, Walker LC, Lawrence AJ. Clinical Effectiveness of Muscarinic Receptor-Targeted Interventions in Neuropsychiatric Disorders: A Systematic Review. CNS Drugs. 2022 11 Nov;36(11):1171-206.
- 132. Walsh L, Hyett N, Howley J, Juniper N, Li C, Macleod-Smith B, et al. Social Media as a Tool for Consumer Engagement in Hospital Quality Improvement and Service Design: Barriers and Enablers for Implementation. International Journal of Health Policy and Management. 2022 11 Nov;11(10):2287-98.
- 133. Cowdery SP, Bjerkeset O, Sund ER, Mohebbi M, Pasco JA, Berk M, et al. Depressive symptomology and cancer incidence in men and women: Longitudinal evidence from the HUNT study. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2022 11 Nov 316:1-9. PubMed PMID: 35934219. Epub 2022/08/08.
- 134. Dodd S, Sominsky L, Siskind D, Bortolasci CC, Carvalho AF, Maes M, et al. The role of metformin as a treatment for neuropsychiatric illness. EUROPEAN NEUROPSYCHOPHARMACOLOGY. 2022 11 Nov 64:32-43. PubMed PMID: WOS:000877727200003. English.
- 135. Lewis KJ, Walton CC, Slemp GR, Osborne MS. Mindfulness and Nonattachment-To-Self in Athletes: Can Letting Go Build Well-being and Selfactualization? MINDFULNESS. 2022 11 Nov 13(11):2738-50. PubMed PMID: WOS:000866360700001. NIHMSID: OCT 2022. English.

- 136. Weinmann S, Spiegel J, Baumgardt J, Buhling-Schindowski F, Pfeiffer J, Kleinschmidt M, et al. Comparison of Inpatient Equivalent Home Treatment (IEHT) with Standard Inpatient treatment: A Matched Cohort Study. PSYCHIATRISCHE PRAXIS. 2022 11 Nov 49(08):405-10. PubMed PMID: WOS:000709519600002. NIHMSID: OCT 2021. German.
- 137. Bayer JMM, Dinga R, Kia SM, Kottaram AR, Wolfers T, Lv J, et al. Accommodating site variation in neuroimaging data using normative and hierarchical Bayesian models. NeuroImage. 2022 12 Dec;264.
- 138. Dryden-Mead T, Nelson B, Bendall S. "They may be confronting but they are good questions to be asking" young people's experiences of completing a trauma and PTSD screening tool in an early psychosis program. Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice. 2022 12 Dec;95(4):1090-107.
- 139. Killey CMJ, Allott K, Whitson S, Francey SM, Bryant C, Simmons MB. Decisional capacity in young people with first episode psychosis, major depressive disorder and no mental disorder. Schizophrenia Research: Cognition. 2022 12 Dec;28.
- 140. Law PCF, Too LS, Hill NTM, Robinson J, Gould M, Occhipinti JA, et al. A pilot case-control study of the social media activity following cluster and noncluster suicides in Australia. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2022 12 Dec;19(1).
- 141. McGorry PD. Retraction Note to: Staging in Neuropsychiatry: a Heuristic Model for Understanding, Prevention and Treatment(Neurotoxicity Research, 10.1007/ s12640-010-9179-x). Neurotoxicity Research. 2022 12 Dec;40(1):346.
- 142. McKay S, Freeman E, Skues JL, Wise L. Shaping the self through education: exploring the links between educational identity statuses, appraisals of control and value, and achievement emotions. European Journal of Psychology of Education. 2022 12 Dec;37(4):1285-305.
- 143. McKay S, Lannegrand L, Skues J, Wise L. Identity Development during Student Exchange: A Longitudinal Multilevel Analysis of Identity Processes in Emerging Adults. Identity. 2022 12 Dec;22(3):213-29.
- 144. Waxmann A, Thompson A, McGorry P, O'Donoghue B. Pathways to care for first-generation migrants with first episode psychosis in northwestern metropolitan Melbourne. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2022 12 Dec;56(12):1566-75.
- 145. Balt E, Merelle S, Robinson J, Popma A, Creemers D, van den Brand I, et al. Social media use of adolescents who died by suicide: lessons from a psychological autopsy study. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health. 2023 Apr;17(1):11. PubMed PMID: WOS:000964197300001.
- 146. Bedi G, Cotton SM, Guerin AA, Jackson HJ. MDMAassisted psychotherapy for post-traumatic stress disorder: The devil is in the detail. Aust N Z J Psych. 2023 Apr;57(4):476-81. PubMed PMID: WOS:000968123300004.
- 147. Han LKM, Dima D, Zhu X, Schmaal L. Editorial: Women in psychiatry 2022: computational psychiatry. Front Psychiatry. 2023 Apr;14:2. PubMed PMID: WOS:000982325500001.
- 148. Hatch KS, Gao S, Ma YZ, Russo A, Jahanshad N, Thompson PM, et al. Brain deficit patterns of metabolic illnesses overlap with those for major depressive disorder: A new metric of brain metabolic disease. Hum Brain Mapp. 2023 Apr;44(6):2636-53. PubMed PMID: WOS:000939471800001.

- 149. Lal S, Gleeson JF, D'Alfonso S, Lee HJ, Etienne G, Joober R, et al. Digital health innovation to prevent relapse and support recovery in young people with first-episode psychosis: A pilot study of Horyzons-Canada. Schizophr. 2023 Apr;9(1):10. PubMed PMID: WOS:000964200800002.
- 150. Liu Y, Teo SM, Meric G, Tang HHF, Zhu QY, Sanders JG, et al. The gut microbiome is a significant risk factor for future chronic lung disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2023 Apr;151(4):943-52. PubMed PMID: WOS:000982204900001.
- 151. Oldehinkel M, Tiego J, Sabaroedin K, Chopra S, Francey SM, O'Donoghue B, et al. Gradients of striatal function in antipsychotic-free first-episode psychosis and schizotypy. Transl Psychiatr. 2023 Apr;13(1):9. PubMed PMID: WOS:000971620400001.
- 152. Pizarro-Campagna E, Terrett G, Jovev M, Rendell PG, Henry JD, Chanen AM. COGNITIVE REAPPRAISAL IMPAIRS NEGATIVE AFFECT REGULATION IN THE CONTEXT OF SOCIAL REJECTION FOR YOUTH WITH EARLY-STAGE BORDERLINE PERSONALITY DISORDER. J Pers Disord. 2023 Apr;37(2):156-76. PubMed PMID: WOS:000964754500002.
- 153. Purcell R, Henderson J, Tamminen KA, Frost J, Gwyther K, Kerr G, et al. Starting young to protect elite athletes' mental health. Br J Sports Med. 2023 Apr;57(8):439-40. PubMed PMID: WOS:000936910000001.
- 154. Rowe EG, Harris CD, Dzafic I, Garrido MI. Anxiety attenuates learning advantages conferred by statistical stability and induces loss of volatility-attuning in brain activity. Hum Brain Mapp. 2023 Apr;44(6):2557-71. PubMed PMID: WOS:000934839200001.
- 155. Sharp P, Oliffe JL, Bottorff JL, Rice SM, Schulenkorf N, Caperchione CM. Connecting Australian Masculinities and Culture to Mental Health: Men's Perspectives and Experiences. Men Masc. 2023 Apr;26(1):112-33. PubMed PMID: WOS:000908701400001.
- 156. Simmons MB, Chinnery G, Whitson S, Bostock S, Braybrook J, Hamilton M, et al. Implementing a combined individual placement and support and vocational peer work program in integrated youth mental health settings. Early Interv Psychiatry. 2023 Apr;17(4):412-21. PubMed PMID: WOS:000919123900001.
- 157. Smith CL, Campbell TCH, Gao CX, Lane TJ, Maybery D, Berger E, et al. Sociodemographic circumstances, health, and life experience shape posttraumatic distress trajectories among individuals exposed to smoke during a large-scale coal mine fire. J Trauma Stress. 2023 Apr;36(2):465-73. PubMed PMID: WOS:000961692800001.
- 158. Smith CL, Gao CX, Xu RB, Ikin JF, Dimitriadis C, Carroll MTC, et al. Long-term impact of the 2014 Hazelwood coal mine fire on emergency department presentations in Australia*. Environ Res. 2023 Apr;223:4. PubMed PMID: WOS:000962409900001.
- 159. Thomas EC, Simmons MB, Mathai C, Salzer MS. Peer-Facilitated Decision Making in Mental Health: Promises, Pitfalls, and Recommendations for Research and Practice. Psychiatr Serv. 2023 Apr;74(4):401-6. PubMed PMID: WOS:000972484400010.
- 160. Badouin J, Bechdolf A, Bermpohl F, Baumgardt J, Weinmann S. Preventing, reducing, and attenuating restraint: A prospective controlled trial of the implementation of peer support in acute psychiatry. Front Psychiatry. 2023 Feb;14:11. PubMed PMID: WOS:000937773900001.

- 161. Haug E, Oie MG, Svendsen IH, Moller P, Nelson B, Melle I. A seven-year longitudinal study of the association between neurocognitive function and basic selfdisorders in schizophrenia. Front Psychol. 2023 Feb;14:8. PubMed PMID: WOS:000953571500001.
- 162. Lim MH, Thurston L, Eres R, Rodebaugh TL, Alvarez-Jimenez M, Penn DL, et al. A pilot randomised controlled trial of the Peer Tree digital intervention targeting loneliness in young people: a study protocol. Trials. 2023 Feb;24(1):13. PubMed PMID: WOS:000924741700002.
- 163. Murray CH, Haney M, Foltin RW, Manubay J, Bedi G, Cooper ZD. Smoked cannabis reduces peak cocaine plasma levels and subjective effects in a controlled drug administration study of polysubstance use in men. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2023 Feb;243:8. PubMed PMID: WOS:000921731300001.
- 164. Byrne MK, Easpaig BNG, Gray R, Creek R, Jones M, Brown E, et al. Behavioural activation for depressive symptoms in young people with emerging or early psychosis: A pilot study protocol. PLoS One. 2023 Jan;18(1):15. PubMed PMID: WOS:000955585900001.
- 165. Cleary A, Griffith DM, Oliffe JL, Rice S. Men, mental health, and suicide. Front Sociol. 2023 Jan;7:3. PubMed PMID: WOS:000923285000001.
- 166. Green JE, McGuinness AJ, Berk M, Castle D, Athan E, Hair C, et al. Safety and feasibility of faecal microbiota transplant for major depressive disorder: study protocol for a pilot randomised controlled trial. Pilot Feasibility Stud. 2023 Jan;9(1):14. PubMed PMID: WOS:000911460400003.
- 167. Hayes J, Carvajal-Velez L, Hijazi Z, Ahs JW, Doraiswamy PM, El Azzouzi FA, et al. You Can't Manage What You Do Not Measure - Why Adolescent Mental Health Monitoring Matters. J Adolesc Health. 2023 Jan;72(1):S7-S8. PubMed PMID: WOS:000897613600003.
- 168. McKay S, Veresova M, Bailey E, Lamblin M, Robinson J. Suicide Prevention for International Students: A Scoping Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023 Jan;20(2):21. PubMed PMID: WOS:000915030900001.
- 169. McMahon EM, Hemming L, Robinson J, Griffin E. Editorial: Suicide and self harm in young people. Front Psychiatry. 2023 Jan;13:4. PubMed PMID: WOS:000921991300001.
- 170. Ratheesh A, Hett D, Ramain J, Wong E, Berk L, Conus P, et al. A systematic review of interventions in the early course of bipolar disorder I or II: a report of the International Society for Bipolar Disorders Taskforce on early intervention. Int J Bibpolar Disord. 2023 Jan;11(1):24. PubMed PMID: WOS:000907124900001.
- 171. Ritunnano R, Papola D, Broome MR, Nelson B. Phenomenology as a resource for translational research in mental health: methodological trends, challenges and new directions. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2023 Jan;32:7. PubMed PMID: WOS:000918007800001.
- 172. Robinson J, La Sala L, Cooper C, Spittal M, Rice S, Lamblin M, et al. Testing the Impact of the #chatsafe Intervention on Young People's Ability to Communicate Safely About Suicide on Social Media: Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR RES Protoc. 2023 Jan;12(1):10. PubMed PMID: WOS:000999431800039.
- 173. Seidler ZE, Wilson MJ, Oliffe JL, Fisher K, O'Connor R, Pirkis J, et al. Suicidal ideation in men during COVID-19: an examination of protective factors. BMC Psychiatry. 2023 Jan;23(1):16. PubMed PMID: WOS:000913279000001.

- 174. Tognin S, Catalan A, Kempton MJ, Nelson B, McGorry P, Riecher-Rossler A, et al. Impact of adverse childhood experiences on educational achievements in young people at clinical high risk of developing psychosis. Eur Psychiat. 2023 Jan;66(1):8. PubMed PMID: WOS:000925929700001.
- 175. Erye HA, Smith E, Ilbanez A, Berk M. Toward a Brain Capital Living Lab model: multi-scale opportunities. Braz J Psychiat. 2023 Jan-Feb;45(1):1-2. PubMed PMID: WOS:000967184100001.
- 176. Allott K, Yuen HP, Baldwin L, O'Donoghue B, Fornito A, Chopra S, et al. Effects of risperidone/paliperidone versus placebo on cognitive functioning over the first 6 months of treatment for psychotic disorder: secondary analysis of a triple-blind randomised clinical trial. Transl Psychiatr. 2023 Jun;13(1):9. PubMed PMID: WOS:001003591400002.
- 177. Armoon B, Griffiths MD, Mohammadi R, Ahounbar E. Suicidal Behaviors and Associated Factors Among Individuals with Gambling Disorders: A Meta-Analysis. J Gamb Stud. 2023 Jun;39(2):751-77. PubMed PMID: WOS:000917810800001.
- 178. Berk M. Biomarkers in psychiatric disorders: status quo, impediments and facilitators. World Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;22(2):174-6. PubMed PMID: WOS:000988329100002.
- 179. Bonell S, Wilson MJ, Griffiths S, Rice SM, Seidler ZE. Why do queer men experience negative body image? A narrative review and testable stigma model? Body Image. 2023 Jun;45:94-104. PubMed PMID: WOS:000954827500001.
- 180. Chanen AM. Bringing personality disorder in from the cold: Why personality disorder is a fundamental concern for youth mental health. Australas Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;31(3):267-9. PubMed PMID: WOS:000942917000001.
- 181. Cotton SM, Filia KM, Hamilton MP, Gao CX, Menssink JM, Telford N, et al. Accelerating youth mental health services research. Australas Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;31(3):292-4. PubMed PMID: WOS:000963836900001.
- 182. Cross SP, Nicholas J, Bell IH, Mangelsdorf S, Valentine L, Thompson A, et al. Integrating digital interventions with clinical practice in youth mental health services. Australas Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;31(3):302-5. PubMed PMID: WOS:000972077400001.
- 183. Fusar-Poli P, Sunkel C, Larrauri CA, Keri P, McGorry PD, Thornicroft G, et al. Violence and schizophrenia: the role of social determinants of health and the need for early intervention. World Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;22(2):230-1. PubMed PMID: WOS:000988329100005.
- 184. Gao CX, McDonald LP, Hamilton MP, Simons K, Menssink JM, Filia K, et al. Inequalities in Access to Mental Health Treatment by Australian Youths During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Psychiatr Serv. 2023 Jun;74(6):581-8. PubMed PMID: WOS:001018867400005.
- 185. Hoare E, Reyes J, Olive L, Willmott C, Steer E, Berk M, et al. Neurodiversity in elite sport: a systematic scoping review. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med. 2023 Jun;9(2):9. PubMed PMID: WOS:001014651300001.
- 186. Kennedy AJ, Gunn KM, Duke S, Jones M, Brown E, Barnes K, et al. Co-designing a peer-led model of delivering behavioural activation for people living with depression or low mood in Australian farming communities. Aust J Rural Health. 2023 Jun;31(3):556-68. PubMed PMID: WOS:000964031100001.
- 187. McGorry P, Mei C. Youth mental health: A rising public health challenge. Australas Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;31(3):245-6. PubMed PMID: WOS:001001105200001.

- 188. O'Gorman KM, Schmaal L, Ratheesh A, Habib G, Tokatlidis O, Jackson-Simpson J, et al. Characteristics and clinical needs of young tertiary students attending a specialist mood disorders clinic. Australas Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;31(3):277-81. PubMed PMID: WOS:000949678100001.
- 189. Phillipou A, Jenkins ZM, Newton JR, Gwee K, Rossell SL, Castle DJ. Over a decade of an eating disorders treatment program: Where to from here? Australas Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;31(3):343-5. PubMed PMID: WOS:000919979300001.
- 190. Phillipou A, McGorry P, Killackey E, Maguire S. Eating disorders in young people. Australas Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;31(3):346-8. PubMed PMID: WOS:000941841200001.
- 191. Ramadan R, Randell A, Lavoie S, Gao CX, Manrique PC, Anderson R, et al. Empirical evidence for climate concerns, negative emotions and climate-related mental ill-health in young people: A scoping review. Early Interv Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;17(6):537-63. PubMed PMID: WOS:000914017100001.
- 192. Rickwood DJ, Trethowan J, McGorry PD. Latest evidence casts further doubt on the effectiveness of headspace. Med J Aust. 2023 Jun;218(11):542-. PubMed PMID: WOS:000988578900001.
- 193. Schmaal L. The curse and opportunity of heterogeneity in the pursuit of psychiatric biomarkers. World Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;22(2):271-2. PubMed PMID: WOS:000988329100016.
- 194. Subotic-Kerry M, Braund TA, Gallen D, Li SH, Parker BL, Achilles MR, et al. Examining the impact of a universal positive psychology program on mental health outcomes among Australian secondary students during the COVID-19 pandemic. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health. 2023 Jun;17(1):11. PubMed PMID: WOS:001004984600002.
- 195. Thompson A, Fitzsimons J, Killackey E, Ahern S, Amminger P, Alvarez-Jimenez M, et al. The Australian Early Psychosis Collaborative Consortium (AEPCC): Improving Clinical Care in Early Psychosis. Australas Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;31(3):306-8. PubMed PMID: WOS:000986269700001.
- 196. Walther A, Ehlert U, Schneeberger M, Eggenberger L, Fluckiger C, Komlenac N, et al. Evaluation of a male-specific psychotherapeutic program for major depressive disorder compared to cognitive behavioral therapy and waitlist: study protocol for a six-arm randomized clinical superiority trial examining depressed eugonadal and hypogonadal men receiving testosterone. Front Psychiatry. 2023 Jun;14:15. PubMed PMID: WOS:001024391200001.
- 197. Bell IH, Nicholas J, Broomhall A, Bailey E, Bendall S, Boland A, et al. The impact of COVID-19 on youth mental health: A mixed methods survey. Psychiatry Res. 2023 Mar;321:9. PubMed PMID: WOS:000935302600001.
- 198. Dauvermann MR, Schmaal L, Colic L, van Velzen LS, Bellow S, Ford TJ, et al. Elevated cognitive rumination and adverse life events are associated with lower cortical surface area and suicidal ideation in adolescents with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. 2023 Mar;325:93-101. PubMed PMID: WOS:000991101300001.
- 199. Fiolet R, Woods C, Moana AH, Reilly R, Herrman H, McLachlan H, et al. Community perspectives on delivering trauma-aware and culturally safe perinatal care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander parents. Women Birth. 2023 Mar;36(2):e254-e62. PubMed PMID: WOS:00095246000001.

- 200.Gao CX, Broder JC, Brilleman S, Campbell TCH, Berger E, Ikin J, et al. Evaluating the impact of Hazelwood mine fire event on students' educational development with Bayesian interrupted time-series hierarchical meta-regression. PLoS One. 2023 Mar;18(3):21. PubMed PMID: WOS:000942456500010.
- 201. Gelman R, Whelan J, Spiteri S, Duric D, Oakhill W, Cassar S, et al. Adoption, implementation, and sustainability of early childhood feeding, nutrition and active play interventions in real-world settings: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2023 Mar;20(1):13. PubMed PMID: WOS:000953961200001.
- 202. Ludowyk N, Trail K, Morecroft R. A community-led suicide prevention initiative for young people in regional and rural Australia: the Live4Life model. Aust Psychol. 2023 Mar;58(2):51-6. PubMed PMID: WOS:000921429900001.
- 203. Panizzutti B, Skvarc D, Lin S, Croce S, Meehan A, Bortolasci CC, et al. Minocycline as Treatment for Psychiatric and Neurological Conditions: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Mol Sci. 2023 Mar;24(6):28. PubMed PMID: WOS:000957761900001.
- 204. Ratheesh A, Berk M, Schmaal L. Can we overcome the heterogeneity of mood disorders in clinical trials? Aust N Z J Psych. 2023 Mar;57(3):309-11. PubMed PMID: WOS:000930155500001.
- 205. Ratheesh A, Hammond D, Gao C, Marwaha S, Thompson A, Hartmann J, et al. Empirically driven transdiagnostic stages in the development of mood, anxiety and psychotic symptoms in a cohort of youth followed from birth. Transl Psychiatr. 2023 Mar;13(1):10. PubMed PMID: WOS:000960588900002.
- 206. Ringin E, Dunstan DW, McIntyre RS, Owen N, Berk M, Rossell SL, et al. Differential associations of mentally-active and passive sedentary behaviours and physical activity with putative cognitive decline in healthy individuals and those with bipolar disorder: Findings from the UK Biobank cohort. Ment Health Phys Act. 2023 Mar;24:9. PubMed PMID: WOS:000963636600001.
- 207. Sander LB, Spangenberg L, La Sala L, Van Ballegooijen W. Editorial: Digital suicide prevention. Front Digit Health. 2023 Mar;5:3. PubMed PMID: WOS:001033981700001.
- 208. Sharp P, Coroiu A, Rice SM, Seidler ZE, Kealy D, Ogrodniczuk JS, et al. Engaging Men in Intimate Partner Relationship Programs: Service Provider and Stakeholder Perspectives. Am J Mens Health. 2023 Mar;17(2):11. PubMed PMID: WOS:000946558500001.
- 209. Sharp P, Kealy D, Rice SM, Seidler ZE, Oliffe JL, Ogrodniczuk JS. Existential isolation and psychological distress during COVID-19: The role of loneliness and resilient coping in Canadian helpseeking men. J Affect Disord. 2023 Mar;324:279-85. PubMed PMID: WOS:000918362200001.
- 210. Simmons MB, Cartner S, MacDonald R, Whitson S, Bailey A, Brown E. The effectiveness of peer support from a person with lived experience of mental health challenges for young people with anxiety and depression: a systematic review. BMC Psychiatry. 2023 Mar;23(1):20. PubMed PMID: WOS:000959451600003.
- 211. Destree L, Albertella L, Jobson L, McGorry P, Chanen A, Ratheesh A, et al. The association between stressful experiences and OCD symptoms in young adults at transdiagnostic risk. J Affect Disord. 2023 May;328:128-34. PubMed PMID: WOS:000944410600001.

- 212. Eyre HA, Lundin R, Falcao VP, Berk M, Hawrot T, Leboyer M, et al. Brain Health Is a Determinant of Mental Health. Am J Geriatr Psychiatr. 2023 May;31(5):379-81. PubMed PMID: WOS:000976561500001.
- 213. Gleeson JFM, Koval P, Zyphur M, Lederman R, Herrman H, Eleftheriadis D, et al. A randomized controlled trial of moderated online social therapy for family carers of first-episode psychosis patients in a specialist treatment setting. Schizophr Res. 2023 May;255:203-12. PubMed PMID: WOS:000968540000001.
- 214. Green JE, Berk M, Mohebbi M, Loughman A, McGuinness AJ, Castle D, et al. Feasibility, Acceptability, and Safety of Faecal Microbiota Transplantation in the Treatment of Major Depressive Disorder: A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. Can J Psychiat-Rev Can Psychiat. 2023 May;68(5):315-26. PubMed PMID: WOS:000949926400001.
- 215. Hedley D, Batterham PJ, Bury SM, Clapperton A, Denney K, Dissanayake C, et al. The Suicidal Ideation Attributes Scale-Modified (SIDAS-M): Development and preliminary validation of a new scale for the measurement of suicidal ideation in autistic adults. Autism. 2023 May;27(4):1115-31. PubMed PMID: WOS:000970772700019.
- 216. Hutsebaut J, Clarke SL, Chanen AM. The diagnosis that should speak its name: why it is ethically right to diagnose and treat personality disorder during adolescence. Front Psychiatry. 2023 May;14:7. PubMed PMID: WOS:000992221200001.
- 217. Hwang G, Wen JH, Sotardi S, Brodkin ES, Chand GB, Dwyer DB, et al. Assessment of Neuroanatomical Endophenotypes of Autism Spectrum Disorder and Association With Characteristics of Individuals With Schizophrenia and the General Population. JAMA Psychiatry. 2023 May;80(5):498-507. PubMed PMID: WOS:000964996700008.
- Liew SL, Schweighofer N, Cole JH, Zavaliangos-Petropulu A, Lo BP, Han LKM, et al. Association of Brain Age, Lesion Volume, and Functional Outcome in Patients With Stroke. Neurology. 2023 May;100(20):E2103-E13. PubMed PMID: WOS:001004179900016.
- 219. Mondelli V, Blackman G, Kempton MJ, Pollak TA, Iyegbe C, Valmaggia LR, et al. Serum immune markers and transition to psychosis in individuals at clinical high risk. Brain Behav Immun. 2023 May;110:290-6. PubMed PMID: WOS:000962196800001.
- 220. Rice SM, O'Gorman KM, Jovev M, Cranston I, Borschmann R, Cotton S, et al. Unmet mental health and criminogenic needs among justice-involved young people: a role for clinicians in the community. Clin Psychol. 2023 May;27(2):259-68. PubMed PMID: WOS:000992839700001.
- 221. Russell SE, Skvarc DR, Mohebbi M, Camfield D, Byrne LK, Turner A, et al. The Impact of N-acetylcysteine on Major Depression: Qualitative Observation and Mixed Methods Analysis of Participant Change during a 12-week Randomised Controlled Trial. Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci. 2023 May;21(2):320-31. PubMed PMID: WOS:000984462300009.
- 222. Tagliaferri SD, Owen PJ, Miller CT, Mitchell UH, Ehrenbrusthoff K, Belavy DL. Classifying Nonspecific Low Back Pain for Better Clinical Outcomes: Current Challenges and Paths Forward. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2023 May;53(5):239-43. PubMed PMID: WOS:001023830900002.





REVOLUTION IN MIND • r y 9 c ~

GET IN TOUCH

IF YOU'D LIKE MORE INFORMATION ABOUT ORYGEN, PLEASE CALL +61 3 9966 9100 OR SEND AN EMAIL TO INFO@ORYGEN.ORG.AU

ORYGEN.ORG.AU

35 POPLAR ROAD PARKVILLE VIC 3052 AUSTRALIA

FOLLOW US ON



92356-ORYGEN-24